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PART I
-----ITEM 1. BUSINESS
-------The Company
----------Apogee Enterprises, Inc. was incorporated under the laws of the State of
Minnesota in 1949. The Company, through its subsidiaries, is a world leader
in technologies involving the design and development of value-added glass
products, services and systems. Unless the context otherwise requires, the
terms "Company", "Apogee", "we", "us" and "our" as used herein refer to
Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

The Company is comprised of three reporting segments to match the markets
they serve:

.

.
.

The Architectural Products and Services segment (Architectural)
designs, engineers, fabricates, installs, services and renovates the
walls of glass and windows comprising the outside skin of commercial
and institutional buildings.
Large-Scale Optical Technologies segment (LSO) develops and produces
high technology glass that enhances the visual performance of products
for the display, imaging and picture framing industries.
Automotive Replacement Glass and Services segment (Auto Glass)
fabricates, repairs and replaces automobile windshields and windows.

Financial information about the Company's segments can be found in Note 15
to the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company contained elsewhere
in this report. See "Index of Financial Statements and Schedules."
During fiscal 2001, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of
the assets of VIS'N Service Corporation (VIS'N), a non-auto glass focused,
third-party administered claims processor, in two separate transactions. In
fiscal 2000, the Company completed the sale of 100% of the stock of its
large-scale domestic curtainwall business, Harmon, Ltd., and the
divestiture of the detention/security operations. Combined with the fiscal
1998 exit from international curtainwall operations, these transactions
effectively removed the Company from the large-scale construction business
and the third-party administered claims processing business. Accordingly,
these businesses are presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated financial statements and notes. Prior periods have been
restated.
Architectural Products and Services (Architectural)
---------------------------------------------------

The businesses in the Architectural segment include: Viracon, the leading
fabricator of coated, high-performance architectural glass for global
markets; Harmon, Inc., the largest U.S. full-service building glass
installation, maintenance and renovation company; Wausau Window & Wall
Systems, a manufacturer of custom aluminum windows and curtainwall systems;
and Linetec, a high-performance paint and anodizing finisher.
Viracon fabricates finished glass products and provides glass-coating
services. This operating unit purchases flat, unprocessed glass in bulk
quantities from which a variety of glass products are fabricated, including
insulated, heat-strengthened and laminated architectural glass, and
protective glazing laminated glass products that are blast and hurricane
resistant. These products all incorporate Viracon's high performance
coatings, thereby creating various aesthetic looks along with energy
efficiency. In addition, Viracon is also a world leader in its ability to

silkscreen paint onto glass, creating custom patterns in a wide array of
colors. Viracon's products appear on monumental buildings throughout North
America, South America, Asia and Australia.

The Viracon unit is able to fabricate all types of architectural glass
(insulated, laminated and combinations of both) at its Owatonna, Minnesota
and Statesboro, Georgia facilities. Combined with its glass coating
capabilities, the unit is able to provide a full range of products from
these facilities.
Insulated glass, comprised of two or more pieces of glass separated by a
sealed air space, is used in commercial, institutional and residential
applications for thermal control. Laminated glass consists of two or more
pieces of glass fused with a vinyl interlayer and is used primarily for
strength and safety in skylights and in security applications. Viracon's
reflective and low-emissivity coatings reduce energy costs and provide
innovative design features for window and curtainwall systems. Lowemissivity coatings are metallic film, invisible to the naked eye,
deposited on glass which selectively limits the transfer of heat through
the glass. Low-emissivity coated glass represents a fast-growing segment of
both residential and nonresidential glass markets.

Viracon markets its products nationally and internationally to glass
distributors, contractors and industrial glass fabricators. A substantial
portion of its glass product is delivered to customers by Viracon's fleet
of company-owned trucks, providing "backhaul" capability for its raw
materials, thereby reducing shipping time, transportation costs and
breakage expense.
Harmon, Inc. offers complete design, engineering, installation and
replacement or glazing services for commercial, institutional and other
buildings in 13 metropolitan areas in the United States. Harmon, Inc.
generally emphasizes projects that are non-complex,
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small, curtainwall projects in comparison to Apogee's discontinued largescale curtainwall operations. While the installation of building glass in
new construction projects is the core business, service and retrofit of the
outside skin of older commercial and institutional buildings are adding to
future growth. This unit offers 24-hour replacement service for storm or
vandalism damage. In-house engineering capabilities allow Harmon, Inc. to
duplicate the original design or create a completely new appearance for
renovated buildings.

Wausau Window & Wall Systems (Wausau) designs and manufactures highquality, thermally-efficient aluminum window and curtainwall systems for
commercial and institutional buildings in the United States. These products
meet high standards of wind load capacity and resistance to air and
moisture infiltration. Wausau's aluminum window frame designs are
engineered to be thermally efficient, utilizing high-strength polyurethane
to limit the transfer of heat or cold through the window frame. Products
are marketed primarily in the United States through a nationwide network of
distributors and a direct sales staff. Sales are made to building
contractors for new construction and to building owners for retrofitting
older buildings. Wausau maintains design and product engineering staffs to
prepare aluminum window and curtainwall system designs to fit customers'
needs and to originate new product designs. Wausau's AdVantage product line
has been pre-engineered to meet customer's needs for short lead-time while
maintaining product quality.
Linetec has three coating facilities which provide high performance
finishing, including anodizing and flouropolymer paints. Anodizing is the
electrolytic process of putting a protective, often colored, oxide film on
light metal, typically aluminum. Fluoropolymer coatings are high quality
paints which are sometimes preferred over anodizing because of the wider
color selection. Coatings are applied to window and curtainwall components

for industrial metal fabricators (including Wausau), as well as other
companies' metal, plastic, wood or glass products. A significant portion of
Linetec's revenues are generated from painting home and commercial shutters
to a single customer.
Large-Scale Optical Technologies (LSO)
-------------------------------------Businesses in the LSO segment include: Tru Vue, a North American valueadded glass and matboard manufacturer for the custom framing and pre-framed
art markets; and Viratec Thin Films, a producer of optical thin film
coatings for the global display and imaging markets.

Tru Vue is one of the largest domestic manufacturers of value-added picture
framing glass. Tru Vue provides its customers with a full array of picture
framing glass products, including clear, reflection control, which
diminishes reflection and enhances clarity, and conservation glass, which
substantially blocks ultraviolet rays to protect artwork. Tru Vue
compliments its glass product offering with sales of conservation picture
framing matboard. The products are distributed primarily in North America
through independent distributors which, in turn, supply local picture
framing markets. In fiscal 2001, Tru Vue acquired two pre-framed art
businesses and during fiscal 2002 added to its fiscal 2001 expansion of its
pre-framed art business through the acquisition of Arnold's West Art. Tru
Vue continues to convert the framing industry to its proprietary valueadded glass, TruGuard, which protects pictures and art from deteriorating
in sunlight. For the second consecutive year, Tru Vue has converted more
than 1,000 independent framers to its TruGuard product. In anticipation of
converting additional frame shops and mass merchandisers, Tru Vue began
production on its new UV glass coater in March 2002. The addition of this
new line significantly increases Tru Vue's capacity to produce UV blocking
glass, its primary value-added glass product.

Viratec develops advanced, optical coatings on glass and acrylic for
display and imaging applications. These products are used in anti-glare
computer screens, projection television, first surface mirrors and screens,
picture framing glazing, as well as imaging devices such as scanners and
copiers. Viratec markets optical coatings to both domestic and foreign
customers. These customers provide further assembly, marketing and
distribution to end-users. As a result of its primary customer's plans to
discontinue its computer monitor operations in San Diego, California,
Viratec's Optium coating plant in San Diego, California servicing this
customer was closed, as planned, in the first quarter of fiscal 2002.
Automotive Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass)
-----------------------------------------------------Businesses in the Auto Glass segment include: Harmon AutoGlass, a U.S.
chain of retail auto glass replacement and repair stores; and
Viracon/Curvlite, a U.S. fabricator of aftermarket foreign and domestic car
windshields.

In an effort to enhance efficiency, geographic coverage and customer
service in the distribution of auto replacement glass, the Company and PPG
Industries, Inc. (PPG) combined their U.S. automotive replacement glass
distribution businesses in July 2000 to create a new entity, PPG Auto
Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the Company has a 34% interest.
Harmon AutoGlass opened its first shop over 50 years ago in downtown
Minneapolis and today has 444 retail service centers, including co-branded
facilities, in over 40 states. In addition to its own shops, Harmon
AutoGlass has a network of more than 4,000 affiliated auto glass retailers
across the country. While Harmon AutoGlass' primary business is windshield
repair and replacement, some Harmon AutoGlass retail stores also offer an
inventory of flat glass for home window repair.
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Harmon AutoGlass is committed to its values of safety, quality work and
customer service. Harmon AutoGlass believes that it has one of the best
customer satisfaction ratings in the industry. Harmon AutoGlass believes
that it is an industry leader in employee training by having all of its
technicians participate in a rigorous internal certification program.
Harmon AutoGlass also requires some of its technicians to obtain
certification by the National Glass Association.

As part of the arrangements with this joint venture, Harmon AutoGlass has
committed, under a multi-year contract, to purchase at least 75% of its
replacement windshield needs from PPG Auto Glass. Harmon AutoGlass has a
long-term contract with APAC Customer Services, Inc. to provide call center
insurance claims processing.
Viracon/Curvlite (Curvlite) fabricates replacement windshields for foreign
and domestic automobiles and laminated glass parts for the RV and bus
industries. Under a multi-year agreement with PPG, Curvlite's automotive
replacement glass production is primarily dedicated to supplying PPG.
Curvlite is now fabricating approximately 600 different parts, about half
the number manufactured previous to the signed agreement.
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials
-----------------------------------------

Materials used within the Architectural segment include raw glass, vinyl,
aluminum extrusions, chemicals, paints and plastic extrusions. All of these
materials are readily available from a number of sources and no supplier
delays or shortages are anticipated. While certain glass products may only
be available at certain times of the year, all standard glass colors are
available throughout the year in abundant quantities. Chemicals purchased
range from commodity to specifically formulated types of chemistries.
Materials used within the LSO segment include glass, acrylic substrates,
coating materials, chemicals, facing paper and coreboard. Currently, the
chemicals used for the UV resistant coating used at Tru Vue are readily
available from only one supplier who meets the Company's specifications for
this proprietary technology. Tru Vue is currently seeking to qualify other
suppliers and alternate technologies.
Within the AutoGlass segment, raw materials consist of flat glass, vinyl
and urethane, which is available from a number of sources, and auto glass,
which Harmon AutoGlass is contractually obligated to buy at least 75% from
PPG Auto Glass.

The Company believes a majority of its raw materials are available from a
variety of domestic sources.
Trademarks and Patents
---------------------The Company has several nationally recognized trademarks and trade names
which it believes have significant value in the marketing of its products.
Within the Architectural segment, Linetec(R) is a registered trademark of
the Company. AdVantage is a listed trademark of the Company.

Within the LSO segment, Viratec(R), Tru Vue(R), TruGuard(R), Conservation
Clear(R) and Conservation Reflection Control(R) are registered trademarks.
Optium, Museum Glass and Perfect Vue are listed trademarks of the Company.
Viratec Thin Films has obtained several patents pertaining to its glass
coating methods. Tru Vue holds several patents on its proprietary products,
including its UV coating and etch processes for non-reflective glass.
Despite being a point of differentiation from its competitors, no single
patent is considered to be material to the Company.
Within the Auto Glass segment, Harmon AutoGlass(R) and Harmon Glass(R) are
registered trademarks of the Company. PPG Auto Glass is a trademark of PPG
Industries.

The Company has maintained various patents related to Terrasun, the
Company's research and development joint venture which the Company
discontinued funding in fiscal 2002.

Customers
---------

The customers within the Architectural Segment include building owners,
architects, general and sub-contractors and building product manufacturers.
The businesses within this segment primarily serve customers requiring
custom made-to-order products.
The LSO segment serves a customer base consisting of customers with
specific made-to-order requests as well as those needing standard
inventoried products. This segment serves retailers of custom picture
framing services and pre-framed art and original equipment manufacturers
(OEMs).

The customers within the Auto Glass segment are a diverse group that
include consumers, insurance companies, commercial fleets, body shops,
automotive dealers and end-users. No one customer accounts for 10% or more
of the Company's consolidated
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revenues, although, because of the supply agreement with PPG in the connection
with the formation of the auto glass distribution joint venture with PPG, PPG
has become the primary customer of Curvlite. Between Automotive Replacement
Glass (ARG) and flat glass, PPG accounts for approximately 80% of the total
volume at Curvlite. The Company believes that the amounts received from such
transactions represent the amounts that would normally be received from
unrelated third parties for similar transactions.
Due to the diversity of the markets, channels of distribution and the geographic
location of customers, it is management's opinion that the loss of any single
customer within any of the segments, other than PPG as a purchaser of
windshields from Curvlite, would not have a material, adverse effect on the
Company, as a whole.
Backlog
------At March 2, 2002, the Company's total backlog of orders considered to be firm
was $196.5 million compared with $200.2 million at March 3, 2001. Of this
amount, approximately $192.7 million and $190.0 million of the orders were in
the Architectural segment at March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001, respectively.

Competition
----------The Company's businesses are in industries that are, in general, fairly mature
and highly competitive.

The companies within the Architectural segment primarily serve the custom
portion of the construction market in which the primary competitive factors are
product quality, reliable service and the ability to provide technical
engineering and design services. In recent times, there has been a shift in
competition within the Architectural segment's largest business unit, Viracon.
This shift has moved from three glass fabricators with less capacity than
Viracon to include additional competition from regional glass fabricators with
shorter lead times incorporating high performance, post-temperable glass
products into their insulated glass products. The availability of these
products has enabled the regional fabricators to bid on larger projects than in
the past. Harmon, Inc. competes against local and regional construction
companies and glazing contractors where the primary competitive factors are
quality engineering and service. Wausau competes against several major aluminum
window manufacturers while Linetec competes against regional paint and anodizing

companies.
Businesses within the LSO segment also compete with several large integrated
glass manufacturers and numerous smaller specialty fabricators. Product pricing,
service and quality are the primary competitive factors in these markets. The
Company's competitive strength includes its excellent relationships with its
customers.

The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glass shops, glass warehouses,
car dealers, body shops and glass fabrication facilities on the basis of pricing
and customer service. Its competition consists of national and regional chains
as well as significant local competition.
Markets
-------

The markets that the businesses within the Architectural segment serve are very
competitive, price and lead-time sensitive and affected by changes in the
commercial construction industry as well as in general economic conditions.
Viracon is well positioned as the leader in North America in the supply of high
performance architectural glass products to the commercial building industry and
also sells into international markets. Viracon offers industry standard
warranties on its products and service, priding itself on complete and on-time
performance to customer requests. Viracon also offers a wide range of products
that meet or exceed performance specifications required in its markets.

Harmon, Inc. bids and negotiates curtainwall and window projects that are
generally under $5.3 million due to certain terms to a non-compete agreement
with the buyer of the Company's discontinued large-scale curtainwall operations.
The primary market for Harmon, Inc. is new construction projects. However,
service and renovation of older buildings continue to add to the growth of this
business unit. In-house engineering capabilities allow Harmon, Inc. to duplicate
the original design or create a completely new appearance for renovated
buildings.
Wausau typically provides window or wall quotations to glazing subcontractors,
who in-turn bid more inclusive glass and glazing packages to general contractors
for projects in the United States. At all levels, the low-bid is an advantageous
competitive position, if specified performance, warranty, aesthetic and
operational characteristics are met. On complex work, engineering capability and
ease of installation also become qualifying factors for window and wall
manufacturers. With products at the high end of the performance scale, and one
of the industry's best standard warranties, Wausau effectively leverages a wellearned reputation for engineering, quality and delivery dependability into a
position as a preferred provider. Wausau markets its products in the United
States through a domestic network of distributors and its direct sales staff.
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The markets served by Linetec include architectural, industrial and commercial
metal fabricators, as well as building product manufacturers and interior window
covering businesses in the United States.
The markets that the businesses within the LSO segment serve are very
competitive, highly responsive to new products and price sensitive. Tru Vue
competes in the value-added and conservation glass and matboard markets in North
America based on the product performance afforded by its proprietary, patented
processes. It is the only company in the picture framing industry that has been
able to produce its UV products in any meaningful supply and at a consistent,
high level of quality. Tru Vue competes in the pre-framed art markets based in
North America, marketing its pre-framed art products primarily to end consumers
and retailers.

Viratec serves the display, imaging, large-area projection televisions and art
glass products markets with anti-reflective and highly reflective products.
Viratec has been hit hard by the economic slowdown in the consumer electronics
markets, but continues to develop new products through its in-house engineering

team.

The markets that the businesses in the Auto Glass segment serve tend to be
seasonal in nature with first and second quarter revenues at 26% and 29% of
full-year revenues, respectively, followed by third and fourth quarter revenues
at 23% and 22%, respectively. These markets are influenced by a variety of
factors, including weather, new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the
economy, and average annual number of miles driven. The primary competitive
factors in this segment are convenience of service and price. The pricing
structure in this market has changed significantly in recent years as insurance
companies seek volume pricing at discounted rates from historical levels and
attempt to enter into preferred or exclusive provider arrangements with a
limited number of providers. Consequently, margins have narrowed at the retail
and manufacturing levels, in which the Auto Glass segment operates.

The manufacturing business within this segment, Curvlite, serves primarily two
windshield markets, domestic and foreign automotive replacement glass (ARG) and
OEM windshields for recreational vehicles and buses. The ARG business is
extremely price competitive and becoming more service oriented. Product quality
and performance are required for all competitors. Pricing through the entire
supply chain has been affected by overcapacity in the market and imports.
Recently, the anti-dumping petition filed by the Company and two other
petitioners against the Chinese manufacturers of automotive replacement glass
was successful in achieving the goal of additional duties applied to automotive
replacement glass manufactured in China.
Research and Development
------------------------

The amount spent on research and development activities over the past three
fiscal years was $2.8 million in fiscal 2002, $3.0 million in fiscal 2001 and
$2.4 million in fiscal 2000.
In fiscal 2002, the Company decided to discontinue funding TerraSun, LLC, its
research and development joint venture of which the Company had a 50% interest.
As a result, TerraSun ceased its operations. TerraSun had been developing
holographic optical technologies for lighting and energy systems applications.

Environment
----------To comply with environmental regulations, Linetec's Wausau, WI paint facility
utilizes an oxidizer to remove volatile organic compounds (VOC's) generated from
the spraying of solvent-based paints. Linetec also sends excess paint and area
liquids to a certified waste treatment facility for disposal. In addition to
these processes, caustic soda and other anodizing chemicals are used in
Linetec's anodizing operation. This is discharged into the local municipal waste
water. During fiscal 2003, Linetec will spend approximately $1.0 million to
install a local waste water filter press to remove solids before discharge into
the local municipal system.

The Company's Tru Vue facility also has a process in which caustic soda is
neutralized prior to discharge into a waste water treatment facility. The
controlled waste residue from the UV coating process is hauled away and disposed
of by licensed, regulated haulers. Tru Vue also removes acid fumes through a
wet-scrubbing system.
The Company's Viracon and Viratec facilities ship their scrap glass to a company
that recycles glass. Viracon also uses non-lead paint in its silkscreening
process.
Employees
---------

The Company employed 5,321 persons at March 2, 2002, of whom approximately 811
were represented by labor unions. The Company is a party to 45 collective
bargaining agreements with several different unions. Approximately 2% of the

collective bargaining agreements will expire during fiscal 2003.
collective bargaining agreements to which the Company is a

The number of
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party will vary with the number of cities with active nonresidential
construction contracts. The Company considers its employee relations to be
very good and has not recently experienced any significant loss of work
days due to strike.
Foreign Operations and Export Sales
-----------------------------------

During the years ended March 2, 2002, March 3, 2001 and February 26, 2000,
the Company's export sales, principally from Architectural operations,
amounted to approximately $35.0 million, $40.0 million and $42.1 million,
respectively.
ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES
----------

The following table lists, by segment, the Company's major facilities as of
March 2, 2002, the general use of the facility and whether it is owned or
leased by the Company.

Facility
--------

Location
--------

Owned/Leased
------------

Function
--------

Architectural Products and Services
----------------------------------Viracon
Viracon
Viracon - Temp II Bldg.
Harmon, Inc. Headquarters
Wausau Window & Wall Systems
Wausau Window & Wall Systems - Plant II
Wausau Window & Wall Systems - Plant III
Wausau Window & Wall Systems - Plant V
Linetec (Painting)
Linetec (Painting)
Linetec (Anodizing)

Owatonna, MN
Statesboro, GA
Owatonna, MN
Minneapolis, MN
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI
Wausau, WI
Stratford, WI
Wausau, WI
Villa Rica, GA
Wausau, WI

Owned
Owned
Owned
Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Owned

Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg.
Administrative
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg.
Mfg.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg.

Large-Scale Optical Technologies
-------------------------------Tru Vue
Tru Vue
Balangier Designs, Inc.
Balangier Designs, Inc.
Viratec Thin Films, Inc.
Viratec Thin Films, Inc. (1)

McCook, IL
Orlando, FL
Little Ferry, NJ
Salt Lake City, UT
Faribault, MN
San Diego, CA

Owned
Owned
Leased
Leased
Owned
Leased

Mfg./Admin.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.
Mfg./Admin.
Mfg.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services
----------------------------------------Harmon AutoGlass Headquarters
Viracon/Curvlite
National Distribution Center

Minneapolis, MN
Owatonna, MN
Owatonna, MN

Leased
Owned
Owned

Administrative
Mfg./Admin.
Warehouse/Admin.

Other
---Apogee Corporate Office

Minneapolis, MN

Leased

Administrative

1. Space has been vacated since the shut-down of the facility during the
second quarter of fiscal 2002 and is being marketed for sub-lease.

In addition to the locations indicated above, at fiscal year-end, the
Automotive Replacement Glass and Services segment operated 270 Harmon
AutoGlass retail locations and 174 co-branded facilities nationally. The
majority of such locations are leased. Also, Architectural Products and
Services' Harmon, Inc. unit operates 14 leased locations. The Company owns
four distribution centers that are currently leased to PPG Auto Glass.

The Viracon/Curvlite plant, a Wausau Window & Wall Systems facility, the
Linetec paint facility, and the Tru Vue facility in Florida were
constructed with the use of proceeds from industrial revenue bonds issued
by those cities. These properties are considered owned since, at the end of
the bond term, title reverts to the Company.

ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
-----------------

Apogee has been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its
normal operating activities. In particular, like other companies in the
construction industry, the Company's businesses in the construction
business, including those that are discontinued, are routinely involved in
various disputes and claims arising out of construction projects, sometimes
involving significant monetary damages. Although it is impossible to
predict the outcome of such proceedings, the Company believes, based
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on facts currently available to management, that none of such claims will
result in losses that would have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
---------------------------------------------------

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth
quarter ended March 2, 2002.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
------------------------------------

NAME
----

AGE
---

POSITION
--------

Russell Huffer

52

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Michael B. Clauer

45

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Joseph T. Deckman

58

Executive Vice President

Larry D. Stordahl

59

Executive Vice President

Patricia A. Beithon

48

General Counsel and Secretary

Gary R. Johnson

40

Vice President and Treasurer

James S. Porter

41

Vice President of Strategy and Planning

Executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Directors and serve for
a one-year period. There are no family relationships between the executive
officers or directors of the Company.
Mr. Huffer has been an employee of the Company for more than the last five
years. Mr. Clauer joined the Company in November 2000. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Clauer held a management position at Open Port and several
financial management positions at Budget Group, Inc. and PepsiCo, Inc. Mr.
Deckman has been an employee of the Company for more than the last five years.
Mr. Stordahl joined the Company in August 1998. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Stordahl held several management positions with SPX Corporation in Owatonna,
Minnesota. Mr. Johnson has been an employee of the Company for more than the
last five years. Ms. Beithon joined the Company in September 1999. Prior to
joining the Company, Ms. Beithon held a divisional legal counsel position with
Pfizer, Inc. subsidiaries, American Medical Systems, Inc. and Schneider (USA),

Inc. in Minneapolis, Minnesota. Mr. Porter joined the Company in August 1997.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Porter held financial management positions at
Rollerblade, Inc. in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

7
PART II
-------

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
----------------------------------------------------------------MATTERS
-------

Market Information
-----------------Apogee
symbol
During
common

common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market, under the ticker
APOG. Stock price quotations are printed daily in major newspapers.
the fiscal year ended March 2, 2002, the average trading volume of Apogee
stock was 4,043,000 shares per month, according to Nasdaq.

As of March 31, 2002, there were 28,334,000 shares of common stock outstanding,
of which about 9.2% were owned by officers and directors of Apogee. At that
date, there were approximately 1,927 shareholders of record and 6,400
shareholders for whom securities firms acted as nominees.
The following chart shows the quarterly range and year-end closing bids for one
share of the Company's common stock over the past five fiscal years.

1998
1999
2000
2001
2002

Quarter
I
-----------------

Quarter
II
-----------------

Quarter
III
-----------------

Quarter
IV
-----------------

Year
End
------

14.000
11.813
8.750
3.313
6.281

17.750
11.125
7.875
3.250
9.250

21.125
8.125
5.688
4.313
6.860

10.375
8.750
4.000
4.625
9.990

12.938
8.750
5.000
9.000
11.300

-

21.250
15.250
13.750
5.500
11.990

-

22.625
15.500
14.313
4.531
15.700

-

25.000
12.875
8.625
6.063
17.000

-

23.250
12.375
6.313
9.500
18.650

Dividends
--------It is Apogee's policy, subject to Board review and approval, to pay quarterly
cash dividends in May, August, November and February. Cash dividends have been
paid each quarter since 1974. The chart below shows quarterly and annual
cumulative, cash dividends per share for the past five fiscal years. Subject to
future operating results, available funds and the Company's future financial
condition, the Company intends to continue paying cash dividends, when and if
declared by its Board of Directors.

1998
1999
2000
2001
2002

Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
Quarter
I
II
III
IV
Year
-------------------------------------------------0.045
0.045
0.050
0.050
0.190
0.050
0.050
0.053
0.053
0.205
0.053
0.053
0.053
0.053
0.210
0.053
0.053
0.053
0.053
0.210
0.053
0.053
0.055
0.055
0.215
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
-----------------------

The following information should be read in conjunction with Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

(In thousands, except per share data and
percentages)*
2002
2001
2000
1999
1998
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Operating Results
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Effective tax rate - %

$ 802,315
187,728
44,127
26,142
--26,142

Operating Ratios
Gross margin - %
Operating margin - %
Net margin - continuing operations - %
Net margin - %
Return on:
Average shareholders' equity - %
Average invested capital - %
Average total assets - %
Funds Flow Data
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Dividends

$

Year-End Data
Total assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Current ratio
Long-term debt
% of invested capital
Shareholders' equity
% of invested capital

$

865,200
178,997
31,894
13,361
1,641
15,002

$

840,488
167,235
19,418
3,071
9,104
12,175

$

788,062
170,415
43,352
20,245
4,988
25,233

$

731,094
165,139
45,659
24,114
(75,169)
(51,055)

0.94
0.00
0.94

0.48
0.06
0.54

0.11
0.33
0.44

0.73
0.18
0.91

0.87
(2.70)
(1.84)

0.91
0.00
0.91
31.0

0.48
0.06
0.54
39.9

0.11
0.44
50.8

0.73
0.18
0.91
37.6

0.85
(2.65)
(1.80)
37.4

23.4
5.5
3.3
3.3

20.7
3.7
1.5
1.7

19.9
2.3
0.4
1.4

21.6
5.5
2.6
3.2

22.6
6.2
3.3
(7.0)

16.4
9.6
6.2

10.5
5.0
3.3

9.1
3.7
2.6

21.0
8.3
5.8

(36.2)
(16.7)
(12.5)

27,034
10,466
6,078

$

34,229
14,823
5,834

$

33,019
44,025
5,833

$

25,798
77,392
5,666

$

22,463
37,892
5,251

$ 409,116
175,084
127,239
47,845
1.4
69,098
26.0
170,934
64.3

$

432,679
175,191
137,437
37,754
1.3
104,206
37.6
148,292
53.5

$

481,154
214,422
135,397
79,025
1.6
164,371
50.2
137,772
42.1

$

466,389
204,308
119,796
84,512
1.7
165,097
51.0
130,664
40.4

$

405,526
206,858
97,750
109,108
2.1
151,967
53.1
109,600
38.3

Investment Information
Dividends per share
$
.215
$
0.210
$
0.210
0.205
0.190
Book value per share
6.03
5.33
4.97
4.73
3.99
Price range during year:
High
18.65
9.50
14.31
15.50
25
Low
6.28
3.25
4
8.13
10.38
Close
11.30
9
5
8.75
12.94
Price/earnings ratio at year-end
13
17
11
10
NM
Dividend yield at year-end - %
1.9
2.3
4.2
2.4
1.5
Shares outstanding at year-end (in thousands)
28,334
27,825
27,743
27,623
27,453
Average monthly trading volume (in thousands)
4,043
3,545
2,666
1,962
4,065
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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(In thousands, except per share data and
percentages)*
1997
1996
1995
1994**
1993
1992
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Operating Results
Net sales
Gross profit
Operating income
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - basic
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations
Net earnings (loss)
Effective tax rate - %

$ 642,226
143,761
44,628
26,827
(607)
26,220

Operating Ratios
Gross margin - %
Operating margin - %
Net margin - continuing operations - %
Net margin - %
Return on:
Average shareholders' equity - %
Average invested capital - %
Average total assets - %
Funds Flow Data
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Dividends

$

567,823
116,426
34,729
20,656
(2,820)
17,836

$ 516,022
102,400
31,535
19,160
(6,110)
13,050

$ 426,400
84,184
23,803
16,279
(12,446)
3,833

0.98
(0.02)
0.96

0.76
(0.10)
0.66

0.72
(0.23)
0.49

0.62
(0.47)
0.14

0.25
(0.08)
0.17

(0.05)
0.36
0.32

0.96
(0.02)
0.93
31.5

0.76
(0.10)
0.65
35.4

0.71
(0.23)
0.48
35.1

0.61
(0.47)
0.14
32.6

0.25
(0.08)
0.17
28.8

(0.05)
0.36
0.31
(113.5)

22.4
6.9
4.2
4.1

20.5
6.1
3.6
3.1

19.8
6.1
3.7
2.5

19.7
5.6
3.8
0.9

19.3
2.4
1.8
1.2

16.9
9.2
7.1

13.5
7.6
5.5

10.9
6.7
4.5

3.4
2.4
1.6

4.0
3.0
2.1

17,860
34,203
4,806

$

$

13,122
20,038
4,453

$

11,972
22,603
4,154

$

12,423
11,447
3,841

$

$

367,878
71,141
8,779
6,657
(2,143)
4,514

12,344
6,393
3,584

$

364,578
67,193
2,730
(1,300)
9,805
8,505

18.4
0.7
(0.4)
2.3
7.6
5.7
4.2
$

14,407
9,985
3,505

Year-End Data
Total assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Working capital
Current ratio
Long-term debt
% of invested capital
Shareholders' equity
% of invested capital

$ 410,522
159,095
86,178
72,916
1.8
127,640
39.4
172,150
53.1

$

327,233
149,414
83,574
65,840
1.8
79,102
32.5
138,922
57.0

$ 317,085
155,608
90,876
64,732
1.7
80,566
35.6
124,628
55.1

$ 257,877
123,301
92,536
30,765
1.3
35,688
21.6
114,062
69.0

$

213,372
102,869
61,702
41,167
1.7
28,419
18.7
112,336
74.1

$

212,282
112,847
63,786
49,061
1.8
25,267
17.0
113,780
76.6

Investment Information
Dividends per share
$
0.175
$
0.165
$
0.155
$
0.145
$
0.135
$
0.130
Book value per share
6.17
5.14
4.64
4.28
4.26
4.23
Price range during year:
High
23.75
9.88
9.25
8.88
6.38
9
Low
9.63
6.50
5.75
5.13
4.13
4.75
Close
19.88
9.81
8.63
7.25
5.81
6.13
Price/earnings ratio at year-end
21
15
18
50
34
19
Dividend yield at year-end - %
0.9
1.7
1.9
2.0
2.3
2.1
Shares outstanding at year-end (in thousands)
27,882
27,034
26,886
26,624
26,354
26,922
Average monthly trading volume (in thousands)
4,795
1,776
1,613
519
644
1,386
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

* Share and per share data have been adjusted for the fiscal 1997 stock
dividend.
**Fiscal 1994 figures reflect the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
for income taxes, which increased net earnings by $0.5 million, or 2 cents per
share.
NM=Not meaningful
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
----------------------------------------------------------------------OF OPERATIONS
------------Introduction
Apogee Enterprises, Inc. is a world leader in technologies involving the design
and development of value-added glass products, services and systems. We are
organized in three segments:
.
The Architectural Products and Services segment (Architectural)
designs, engineers, fabricates, installs, services and renovates the
walls of glass and windows comprising the outside skin of commercial
and institutional buildings. The businesses in this segment include:
Viracon, the leading fabricator of coated, high-performance
architectural glass for global markets; Harmon, Inc., the largest U.S.
full-service building and glass installation, maintenance, and
renovation company; Wausau Window & Wall Systems, a manufacturer of
custom, aluminum windows and curtainwall systems; and Linetec, a
high-performance paint and anodizing finisher.
.
Large-Scale Optical Technologies segment (LSO) develops and produces
high technology glass that enhances the visual performance of products
for the display, imaging and picture framing industries. The
businesses in this segment include: Tru Vue, a North American
value-added glass and matboard manufacturer for the custom framing and
pre-framed art markets; and Viratec Thin Films, a producer of optical
thin film coatings for the global display and imaging markets.
.
Automotive Replacement Glass and Services segment (Auto Glass)
fabricates, repairs and replaces automobile windshields and windows.
The businesses in this segment include: Harmon AutoGlass, a U.S. chain
of retail auto glass replacement and repair stores; and
Viracon/Curvlite, a U.S. fabricator of aftermarket foreign and
domestic car windshields.

Performance
The relationship between various components of operations, stated as a percent
of net sales, is illustrated below for the past three fiscal years.

(Percent of Net Sales)
2002
2001
2000
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and
administrative expenses
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Equity in (loss) income of affiliated companies
Earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes
Income taxes

100.0%
76.6
----23.4

100.0%
79.3
----20.7

100.0%
80.1
----19.9

17.9
----5.5
0.7
(0.1)
-----

17.0
----3.7
1.3
0.2
-----

17.6
----2.3
1.3
(0.3)
-----

4.7
2.6
0.7
1.4
1.1
0.4
------------Earnings from continuing operations
3.3
1.5
0.3
Earnings from discontinued operations, net
0.0
0.2
1.1
------------Net earnings
3.3%
1.7%
1.4%
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Fiscal 2002 Compared To Fiscal 2001
Consolidated net sales decreased 7% in fiscal 2002 to $802.3 million from $865.2
million in fiscal 2001. Net sales decreased 1% compared to the prior year, after
being adjusted for the July 2000 formation of PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto
Glass) joint venture. The results of the Auto Glass distribution unit, which we
contributed to the joint venture, were not included in our continuing operations
in fiscal 2002, as they were through the second quarter of fiscal 2001. The
remaining net decrease is attributable to volume reductions and lower pricing
from competitive pressures in the Auto Glass segment and slowdown in the markets
served by the LSO segment. These reductions were partially offset by increased
revenues in our Architectural segment due to increased volume and more efficient
and effective operations. Additionally, fiscal 2002 comprised of 52 weeks versus
53 weeks in fiscal 2001.
On a consolidated basis, cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, fell to
76.6% for fiscal 2002, improving from 79.3% in fiscal 2001. The primary factors
were efficiencies gained in our Architectural segment, as well as cost
reductions and sales of higher-margin product mix in that segment. These
improvements impacted margin by 3.2%. The net of the formation of the PPG Auto
Glass joint venture and pricing amendments to the PPG Auto Glass supply
agreements made during the
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second quarter of fiscal 2002 increased margins by 0.4%. These increases were
offset by significant margin reductions within the LSO segment.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, as a percentage of sales,
increased to 17.9% from 17.0%, but decreased $3.5 million. Key components
attributable to the decline in SG&A expenses were reductions in depreciation,
and salaries and related costs in the Auto Glass segment to reduce its overall
cost structure. These declines were partially offset by increased
performance-based incentive expenses and training costs.

Net interest expense decreased to $5.2 million for fiscal 2002 from $11.1
million in fiscal 2001 reflecting significantly lower borrowing levels and a
lower weighted-average interest rate under the revolving credit agreement. Also
contributing to this decrease were interest components of tax refunds received
during the year.
Our equity in loss from affiliated companies was $1.0 million in fiscal 2002
versus equity in income of $1.5 million in the prior year. The amendments made
to the supply agreements related to the PPG Auto Glass joint venture in the
current year second quarter led to lower earnings during the year for PPG Auto
Glass. This decline was somewhat offset by lower costs at the TerraSun joint
venture, which was shut down during the third quarter of fiscal 2002.

Our effective income tax rate of 31.0% of pre-tax earnings from continuing

operations decreased from the 39.9% of pre-tax earnings from continuing
operations reported in fiscal 2001. This reduction was due to a decrease in tax
reserves as a result of the closure of certain tax periods and due to the
relationship of permanent book and tax differences.

Our fiscal 2002 earnings from continuing operations increased to $26.1 million
or $0.91 diluted earnings per share. This compared to earnings from continuing
operations of $13.4 million, or $0.48 diluted earnings per share, a year
earlier. The increase in earnings is largely attributable to the revenue and
productivity gains within our Architectural segment, a reduced cost structure in
the auto glass related businesses, and lower interest and taxes, offset by
losses in our LSO segment.
We did not report earnings from operations of discontinued businesses in fiscal
2002. In fiscal 2001, we reported earnings from operations of discontinued
businesses of $1.6 million after tax, or $0.06 diluted earnings per share. Our
fiscal 2002 net earnings were $26.1 million, or $0.91 diluted earnings per
share. This compared to $15.0 million, or $0.54 diluted earnings per share, a
year ago.
Segment Analysis
Architectural Products and Services

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net sales
$479,364
$ 441,466
$ 394,104
Operating income
34,396
27,393
20,513
Depreciation and amortization
16,617
16,111
15,693
Capital expenditures
5,078
6,257
23,382
Assets
225,038
225,668
226,929
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Architectural net sales for fiscal 2002 increased 9% to $479.4 million from
$441.5 million in fiscal 2001. The increase is due to an increase in the number
of curtainwall installation projects, due to the new renovation initiatives and
growth at new and mature shops, and improved operations allowing for more
capacity and shipments at our window systems and curtainwall manufacturing
business.

Operating income for the segment in fiscal 2002 increased 26% to $34.4 million
from $27.4 million in the prior year. The resultant operating margins increased
to 7.2% for fiscal 2002 from 6.2% in fiscal 2001. The majority of the
improvement in operating income was driven by sales mix changes to higher margin
products and efficiencies in manufacturing in glass fabricating, partially
offset by slightly lower margins in installation.
The segment's depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures remained
flat for the period compared to prior year. Total assets at the end of fiscal
2002 were consistent with those at the end of fiscal 2001.
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Large-Scale Optical Technologies

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net sales
Operating (loss) income
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures

$67,829
(4,350)
3,292
2,229

$90,768
4,571
5,916
2,677

$69,934
(540)
5,354
17,254

Assets
53,781
68,489
77,538
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

LSO net sales of $67.8 million decreased 25% over fiscal 2001. The decrease in
net sales and resulting operating loss were a direct result of the severe
downturn in the PC industry and the slowdown in retail framing markets, along
with the closure of the San Diego facility during the first quarter of the year.
LSO reported an operating loss of $4.4 million for fiscal 2002, compared to
operating income of $4.6 million for fiscal 2001.
Depreciation and amortization decreased to $3.3 million for fiscal 2002 from
$5.9 million for the prior year due to sale and leaseback agreements entered
into on certain production equipment during fiscal 2001. The leases are
accounted for as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for
Leases. Capital expenditures for fiscal year 2002 were $2.2 million compared to
$2.7 million in fiscal 2001.
Total assets decreased to $53.8 million at the end of fiscal 2002 from $68.5
million at the end of fiscal 2001. This decrease is attributable to the sale of
assets from the shutdown of the San Diego facility, and an overall reduction in
working capital requirements due to the slowdown.
Automotive Replacement Glass and Services

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net sales
$255,133
$333,311
$377,499
Operating income
16,088
1,429
184
Depreciation and amortization
6,527
11,873
10,615
Capital expenditures
3,101
5,922
3,918
Assets
84,508
96,595
123,040
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Auto Glass net sales decreased 23% to $255.1 million in fiscal 2002. Segment
revenues, which declined 9% compared to fiscal 2001 after being adjusted for the
PPG Auto Glass joint venture, decreased due to reduced retail unit volumes from
loss of market share and lower prices as a result of competitive pricing
pressures. Market data indicates that unit demand for replacement auto glass in
the U.S. increased 4% during fiscal 2002.

Auto Glass operating income increased to $16.1 million for fiscal 2002 from
operating income of $1.4 million in fiscal 2001 due to a combination of
improvements in the retail business and changes in PPG Auto Glass supply
agreements. Approximately 70% of the operating income improvement resulted from
amendments made to the supply agreements related to the PPG Auto Glass joint
venture, effective beginning the second quarter of this year. These amendments
permanently adjusted pricing to the joint venture from our windshield
manufacturing business, resulting in higher income for the segment. The
remaining gains were the result of operational improvements and cost reductions
implemented late fiscal 2001 for retail. At the end of fiscal 2002, Auto Glass
had 270 Harmon AutoGlass retail locations and 174 co-branded facilities. The
segment continues to pursue opportunities to increase utilization and improve
efficiencies.
Depreciation and amortization decreased to $6.5 million for fiscal 2002 from
$11.9 million for the prior year. This is the result of certain significant
computer hardware and software applications becoming fully depreciated during
fiscal 2001. Capital expenditures for fiscal year 2002 were $3.1 million
compared to $5.9 million in fiscal 2001.
Total assets decreased to $84.5 million at the end of fiscal 2002 from $96.6
million at the end of fiscal 2001. This decrease is attributable to the
reduction of distribution business assets not included in the contribution to
the PPG Auto Glass joint venture. We sold certain remaining assets and realized

the reduction of working capital assets. In addition, there were reductions in
working capital requirements due to reductions of receivables in the retail
business.
Fiscal 2001 Compared To Fiscal 2000
Consolidated net sales increased 3% in fiscal 2001 to $865.2 million from $840.5
million in fiscal 2000. The results of the Auto Glass distribution unit, which
Apogee contributed to the PPG Auto Glass joint venture, were not included in
Apogee's
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continuing operations for the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2001, as they
were through the second quarter of fiscal 2001. Fiscal 2001 revenues grew 11%
compared to the prior year after being adjusted for the formation of the joint
venture. The majority of the increase is attributable to increased unit
production due to the full-year impact of plant expansions completed during
fiscal 2000, enhanced equipment utilization and the impact of fiscal year 2001
acquisitions. Additionally, fiscal 2001 comprised of 53 weeks while fiscal 2000
comprised of 52 weeks.
On a consolidated basis, cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, fell to
79.3% for fiscal 2001, improving from 80.1% in fiscal 2000. The primary factors
underlying the resulting increase in gross profit percentage were improved
performance attributable to enhanced manufacturing performance within the
Architectural and Large-Scale Optical segments, as well as cost reduction
initiatives within the Automotive Replacement Glass segment. These improvements
were partially offset by higher general liability and health insurance related
expenses across all segments.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses, as a percentage of sales,
decreased to 17.0% from 17.6%. After being adjusted for the formation of the
PPG Auto Glass joint venture, SG&A expenses decreased, as a percentage of sales,
from 18.5% in fiscal 2000. The primary factor for the decrease was due to the
cost reduction initiatives implemented at the Automotive Replacement Glass
segment, as well as reductions in expenses related to doubtful accounts across
all segments. These were offset by increases in amounts expensed for bonuses
and incentives.
Net interest expense rose slightly to $11.1 million, or 1.3% of sales, in fiscal
2001. The increase reflected higher weighted-average interest rates under the
Company's revolving credit agreement. This was somewhat offset by lower average
borrowing levels during fiscal 2001 as compared to fiscal 2000.

Apogee's equity in income from affiliated companies was $1.5 million in fiscal
2001 compared to equity in loss from affiliated companies of $2.8 million a year
ago. Income associated with the Company's PPG Auto Glass joint venture,
including rationalization and other transaction related adjustments, was offset
by the Company's TerraSun research and development joint venture. The PPG Auto
Glass joint venture formed on July 29, 2000, combined the Company's and PPG
Industries, Inc.'s (PPG) U.S. automotive replacement glass distribution
businesses into a newly formed entity, PPG Auto Glass, with the Company having a
34% ownership interest in the joint venture. Fiscal 2000 results were largely
attributable to TerraSun.
Apogee's effective income tax rate of 39.9% of pre-tax earnings from continuing
operations decreased from the 50.8% of pre-tax earnings from continuing
operations reported in fiscal 2000. This reduction is due to the relationship
of book and tax differences as a percentage of pre-tax income.
Apogee's fiscal 2001 earnings from continuing operations increased to $13.4
million or $0.48 diluted earnings per share. This compared to earnings from
continuing operations of $3.1 million, or $0.11 diluted earnings per share, a
year earlier.

The Company reported earnings from operations of discontinued businesses of $1.6
million after tax, or $0.06 diluted earnings per share for fiscal 2001 as
compared to $9.1 million after tax, or $ 0.33 diluted earnings per share, a year
earlier.

Apogee's fiscal 2001 net earnings were $15.0 million, or $0.54 diluted earnings
per share. This compared to $12.2 million, or $0.44 diluted earnings per share,
a year ago. The return on average shareholders' equity was 10.5% fiscal
2001versus 9.1% for fiscal 2000.
Segment Analysis
Architectural Products and Services. Architectural net sales for fiscal 2001
increased 12% over fiscal 2000. Viracon reported an increase in net sales of
18%, mostly due to the increased capacity from the full-year impact associated
with the completion of the Statesboro facility. Additionally, strong customer
demand for Viracon's high-performance architectural glass products significantly
improved sales volume. Harmon, Inc., reported a 19% increase in net sales,
primarily due to an increased number of curtainwall installation projects and
Linetec improved sales by 5%. These increases were offset by a slowdown in
shipments at Wausau Window & Wall Systems due to the facility not being able to
fill its available short lead-time capacity during the second half of the year.

Operating income for the segment of $27.4 million represented an increase of 34%
over prior year. This was the result of increased production capacity and
improved utilization at Viracon as well as increased earnings at Harmon, Inc.
and Linetec. These increases were partially offset by reductions in earnings at
Wausau Window & Wall Systems.
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The Architectural segment backlog, at March 3, 2001, remained at record levels
of $190.0 million, compared to $153.6 million at February 26, 2000.
Large-Scale Optical Technologies. LSO net sales of $90.8 million represented a
30% increase over fiscal 2000. Tru Vue reported a 25% improvement in sales due
to increased demand for their high margin, value-added glass products.
Additionally, Tru Vue expanded its pre-framed art business through the
acquisitions of Balangier Fine Art and Designs, and Corporate Art Services, Inc.
These acquisitions represent 40% of the Tru Vue increase for fiscal 2001 sales.
Viratec reported a net sales increase of 37% over fiscal 2000 levels due to
strong operational improvement that allowed for significant volume growth.
LSO operating income of $4.6 million for fiscal 2001 compared favorably to an
operating loss of $0.5 million for fiscal 2000. The increase was the result of
the increased sales volume at both of the segment's operations as well as the
impact of sales of higher margin products from Tru Vue and improved equipment
utilization at Viratec. These increases were offset by acquisition related
integration costs at Tru Vue and the impact of shutdown costs for Viratec's San
Diego facility. The shut down of the San Diego facility will not have a
material impact on next year's financial results.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services. Auto Glass net sales decreased 12%
to $333.3 million in fiscal 2001. Fiscal 2001 revenues for the segment grew 4%
compared to the prior year after being adjusted for the formation of the PPG
Auto Glass joint venture. Net sales of the auto glass retail unit decreased 2%
compared with those of a year ago due, in part, to soft demand for auto
replacement glass services. The retail unit volume decrease was offset by unit
price increases. Market data indicates that unit demand for replacement auto
glass in the U.S. rose 4.2% during fiscal 2001. In an effort to improve margins,
Harmon AutoGlass closed retail facilities and implemented strategies to reduce
low margin business. This resulted in a reduction in volume of 14.9%.
Auto Glass operating income increased to $1.4 million for fiscal 2001 from
operating income of $0.2 million in fiscal 2000. During fiscal 2001, as part of
the Company's initiative to maintain customer service and reduce costs, Harmon

AutoGlass reduced headcount through position eliminations, closed 37
underperforming stores, or nearly 11% of its retail locations, and transitioned
call center operations to APAC Customer Services, Inc. Harmon AutoGlass
continued to maintain a presence in most markets where shop closings occurred.
Viracon/Curvlite reported slightly increased operating income over the prior
year.

At the end of fiscal 2001, Auto Glass had 287 Harmon AutoGlass retail locations
and 167 co-branded facilities. The segment continues to explore opportunities
to increase utilization and improve efficiencies.
Related Party Transactions
As a result of our 34% interest in PPG Auto Glass of which PPG has the remaining
interest, various contracts and transactions the Company enters into with PPG
Auto Glass are deemed to be "related party" transactions. Under the terms of
this multi-year agreement, the Company's retail auto glass business is committed
to purchasing at least 75% of its replacement windshield needs from PPG Auto
Glass. The terms are negotiated on an arms length basis. We believe that the
amounts received from or paid for such transactions represent the amounts that
would normally be received, or paid to unrelated third parties for similar
transactions.
Discontinued Operations

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the
assets of VIS'N Service Corporation (VIS'N), a non-auto glass focused, thirdparty administered claims processor, in two separate transactions with no impact
to net earnings. In fiscal 2000, the Company completed the sale of 100% of the
stock of its large-scale domestic curtainwall business, Harmon, Ltd. The sale
of Harmon, Ltd. and the Company's detention/security business in fiscal 1999,
combined with the fiscal 1998 exit from international curtainwall operations
effectively removed the Company from the large-scale construction business. All
of the above-mentioned businesses are presented as discontinued operations in
the accompanying financial statements and notes. Prior periods have been
restated.
At March 2, 2002, accruals totaling $19.7 million represented the remaining
estimated future cash outflows associated with the exit from discontinued
operations. The majority of these cash expenditures are expected to be made
within the next two to three years. The primary components of the accrual
relate to the remaining exit costs from the international curtainwall operations
of our large-scale construction business, legal costs and other costs associated
with the proceedings noted above. The long-term elements within the accrual
related to the international curtainwall operations include bonds outstanding of
which the precise degree of liability related to these matters will not be known
until they are settled within the U.K. and French courts, and product liability
issues, consisting of warranty and rework issues on these international
construction projects.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133 regarding accounting for derivative
instruments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 137
and No. 138, establishes accounting and reporting standards requiring that
derivative instruments (including certain derivative instruments embedded in
other contracts) be recorded in the balance sheet either as an asset or
liability measured at fair value. SFAS No. 133 requires changes in the
derivative's fair value to be recognized in earnings or, for derivatives that
hedge market risk related to future cash flows, in accumulated other
comprehensive loss/income, unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met.
The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 on March 4, 2001 and determined its derivative
instruments, consisting of interest rate swap agreements, qualify for hedge
accounting treatment. The adoption resulted in the Company recording the fair

value of its interest rate swap agreements as a liability for $1.8 million with
an offsetting adjustment to other comprehensive earnings, net of tax, of $1.1
million. The net present liability associated with these interest rate swap
agreements was $2.5 million at March 2, 2002.
In June 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations and SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 requires business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. Under SFAS No. 142, amortization of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets will cease and instead the carrying value of
these assets will be evaluated for impairment by applying a fair-value based
test on at least an annual basis. We must adopt SFAS No. 142 on March 3, 2002
and we are currently evaluating the effects adoption will have on our
consolidated financial statements. Goodwill amortization expense recorded
during fiscal 2002 was $1.5 million.
In August 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This statement, which addresses financial
accounting and reporting for the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets,
will be adopted on March 3, 2002, with no impact on our financial statements.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
(In thousands, except percentages)
2002
2001
----------------------------------------------------------------------Cash provided by operations
$53,284
$62,069
Capital expenditures
10,466
14,823
Proceeds from dispositions of property
5,598
17,834
Payments on long-term debt, net
38,296
60,703
Debt to invested capital
26.0%
37.6%

Operating activities. Cash provided by continuing operating activities of $53.3
million decreased by $8.8 million compared to last year. This is the result of
increasing working capital by $0.6 million versus a reduction of $8.4 million in
fiscal 2001. Net income plus noncash charges was essentially flat compared to
the prior year.

Investing activities. Fiscal 2002 investing activities used cash of $3.2
million as compared to $1.1 million of cash provided in fiscal 2001 as a result
of the receipt of $16.0 million related to a sales and leaseback transaction of
operating equipment in the prior year. New capital investment in fiscal 2002
totaled $10.5 million, versus $14.8 million and $44.0 million in fiscal 2001 and
2000, respectively. The decreases over the past two years are the result of
completing and starting up the significant projects initiated over the preceding
two years.
In fiscal 2003, the Company expects to incur capital expenditures as necessary
to maintain existing facilities and information systems. Fiscal 2003
expenditures are expected to be less than $25.0 million.
In fiscal 2002, the Company had proceeds on the sale of certain land, buildings
and equipment totaling $5.6 million compared to $17.8 million in fiscal 2001.
Included in the fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 amounts were sales and leaseback
agreements on miscellaneous equipment totaling $2.1 million and $16.0 million,
respectively. We are not expecting to have any such agreements for fiscal 2003.
Financing activities. Payments on long-term debt decreased to $38.3 million for
fiscal 2002 from $60.7 million for fiscal 2001. We continued to focus on debt
reduction during fiscal 2002, evidenced by the reduction in our debt to invested
capital percentage, which improved to 26.0% at the end of fiscal 2002 from 37.6%
at the end of fiscal 2001. Long-term debt, including current installments of
$0.6 million, stood at $69.7 million at March 2, 2002 compared to $104.5 million
at
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March 3, 2001. The majority of our long-term debt at the end of the year,
$60.7 million, consisted of bank borrowings under a syndicated revolving credit
facility.
Other financing activities

Future Cash Payments Due by Period
---------------------------------------------------------------------------(In thousands)
2003
2004
After 2004
---------------------------------------------------------------------------Long-Term Debt
$
640
$61,240
$ 7,858
Operating Leases (Undiscounted)
15,317
11,944
27,804
Other Obligations
382
183
25
------------------Total Cash Obligations
$16,339
$73,367
$35,687
=======
=======
=======
For fiscal 2003, we expect that outstanding borrowings will generally decline
over the course of the year. We believe that current cash on hand, cash
generated from operating activities, and the available credit facility should be
adequate to fund our working capital requirements and planned capital
expenditures through fiscal 2003. If we are unable to generate enough cash
through operations to satisfy our working capital requirements and planned
capital expenditures, we have available funds from our syndicated revolving
credit facility.

On March 2, 2002, we had a total of $125.0 million available under the
syndicated revolving credit facility of which $60.7 million was in use. This
facility, which expires in May 2003, permits borrowing at competitive interest
rates and is available for general corporate purposes. During fiscal 2001, we
reduced the credit facility from $275.0 million to $200.0 million. During
fiscal 2002, we reduced the credit facility from $200.0 million to $125.0
million. Our receivables, inventory, equipment and intangibles secure the
credit facility. Based upon our satisfaction of certain financial covenants
during fiscal 2001, we have the right to cause this security interest to be
released upon our request. At March 2, 2002, we were in compliance with all
financial covenants of the credit facility.
In April 2002, we expect to enter into a new, four-year, unsecured, committed
credit facility in the amount of $125.0 million. This credit facility will
require us to maintain levels of net worth and certain financial ratios. These
ratios include maintaining an interest coverage ratio (EBITDA divided by
interest expense) of more than 3.0 and a debt to EBITDA ratio of less than 3.0.
At March 2, 2002, these ratios were 9.8 and 1.0, respectively. If we are not in
compliance with these ratios at the end of any quarter, the debt can be
accelerated. Upon establishment of this new credit facility, the parties to the
previously existing $125.0 million secured credit facility are expected to agree
to terminate the previously existing credit facility.

During fiscal 2002, $2.0 million of variable rate industrial revenue bonds were
issued and the resulting proceeds were loaned to us to finance a portion of our
capital projects in Faribault, MN and McCook, IL. In April 2002, an additional
$1.0 million of variable rate industrial bonds were issued and the resulting
proceeds were loaned to the Company to finance a portion of our capital projects
in Wausau, WI.

In fiscal 1999, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which expires
in fiscal 2004, that effectively converted $25.0 million of variable rate
borrowings into a fixed rate obligation. In fiscal 2000, we entered into an
interest rate swap agreement, which expires in fiscal 2003, which effectively
converted $10.0 million of variable rate borrowings into a fixed rate
obligation. During fiscal 2002, we extended each of these swap agreements one
year and modified the fixed rate obligation.
We experienced a material increase in our risk retention for our third-party
product liability coverages effective for fiscal 2003. A material rework event
would have a material adverse effect on our operating results.

From time to time, we acquire the use of certain assets, such as warehouses,
automobiles, forklifts, trucks, office equipment and some manufacturing
equipment through operating leases. Many of these operating leases have
termination penalties. However, because the assets are used in the conduct of
our business operations, it is unlikely that any significant portion of these
operating leases would be terminated prior to the normal expiration of their
lease terms. Therefore, we consider the risk related to termination penalties to
be minimal.
Outlook

Overall revenue growth for fiscal 2003 versus fiscal 2002 is anticipated to be
flat to low single digits, with year-on-year growth occurring in the second
half.
- Architectural segment is expected to have flat to low single digit revenue
growth for the year, with second half growth dependent on an improving
construction industry. The segment's focus on complex, value-added projects
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-

results in longer lead times from project approval to production, creating
the temporary softness moving from the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002 into
the first quarter of fiscal 2003.
LSO segment revenues are expected to grow in the high single digits, driven
by the timing of improvements in retail consumer electronics and framing
markets and the expected success of new product initiatives.
Automotive replacement glass segment revenues are expected to be
approximately flat, as single digit windshield volume growth is slightly
offset by customer mix and competitive pricing. Volume growth will be
driven by improving industry conditions and retail's ability to gain market
share.

Gross margin percentages are expected to improve slightly, with operating
efficiencies achieved largely through Six Sigma and other process improvement
initiatives, which should offset increases in wages, health care and insurance
costs. At the same time, there is expected to be increased margin pressure in
the Architectural and Auto Glass segments driven by competitive actions in soft
markets. Selling, general and administrative expenses will grow slightly, as
will the amount as a percent of sales, due to investments in marketing and
information technology initiatives.
Earnings per share are expected to grow, with the year-on-year growth
anticipated to begin starting in the third quarter when the improving economy
should positively impact Apogee's value-added architectural and LSO businesses.
Critical Accounting Policies

Management has evaluated the accounting policies used in the preparation of the
accompanying financial statements and related notes and believes those policies
to be reasonable and appropriate. We believe that the most critical accounting
policies applied in the presentation of our financial statements relate to
accounting for contingencies, under which we accrue a loss when it is probable
that a liability has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Contingencies, by their nature, relate to uncertainties that require management
to exercise judgment both in assessing the likelihood that a liability has been
incurred as well as in estimating the amount of potential loss. The most
important contingencies impacting our financial statements are as follows:
- Collectibility of accounts receivable - We establish allowances for doubtful
accounts for specifically identified, as well as anticipated, doubtful
accounts based on credit profiles of our customers, current economic trends,
contractual terms and conditions, and historical payment experience. We feel
that there is no concentration of credit risk due to the diversity of our
markets, channels of distribution, and the geographic location of customers.
- Disputes and claims regarding product liability and warranties -

Occasionally, we are subject to claims associated with our products and
services, principally as a result of disputes with our customers involving
our architectural products. The time period from when a claim is asserted to
when it is resolved either by dismissal, negotiation, settlement, or
litigation can be several years. Additionally, while we maintain product
liability insurance, the arrangements include significant self-retention of
risk in the form of policy deductibles. In addition, certain claims could be
determined to be uninsured. We accrue based on our estimates of known
claims, as well as anticipated claims for possible product warranty and
rework costs.

- Discontinued operations - We accrue for the remaining estimated future cash
outflows associated with the exit from discontinued operations. The majority
of these cash expenditures are expected to be made within the next two to
three years. The primary components of the accrual relate to the remaining
exit costs from the international curtainwall operations of our large-scale
construction business. These long-term accruals include settlement of the
outstanding bonds, of which the precise degree of liability related to these
matters will not be known until they are settled within the U.K. and French
courts; and product liability issues and legal costs may be incurred, as
they relate to our warranties and possible rework issues on the
international and domestic construction projects.

- Self-insurance reserves - We obtain substantial amounts of commercial
insurance for potential losses for general liability, workers' compensation
and automobile liability risk. However, an amount of risk is retained on a
self-insured basis through a wholly owned insurance subsidiary. Reserve
requirements are established based on actuarial projections of ultimate
losses.
- Taxes - We estimate our income taxes for each of the jurisdictions in which
we operate. We include differences between our deferred tax assets and tax
liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet. We assess the likelihood that
our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation
allowance. Significant judgement is required in determining our provisions
for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and our future
taxable income for purposes of assessing our ability to utilize any future
tax benefit from our deferred tax assets.
As part of our ongoing financial reporting process, a collaborative effort is
undertaken involving Apogee managers with financial responsibility for financial
reporting, credit, product and project management, quality, legal, and tax and
outside advisors such as consultants, engineers, lawyers and actuaries. The
results of this effort provide management with the necessary information on
which to base their judgments on these contingencies and develop the estimates
used to prepare
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the financial statements. We believe that the amounts recorded in the
accompanying financial statements related to these contingencies are based on
the best estimates and judgments of the appropriate Apogee management. However,
outcomes could differ from our estimates and could materially adversely affect
our future operating results, financial position and cash flows.
Impact of Inflation

Our financial statements are prepared on a historical cost basis, which does not
completely account for the effects of inflation. The cost of uncoated glass,
one of our primary raw materials, was slightly higher as compared to the prior
year as our vendors were able to pass on the impact of higher natural gas costs
for part of the year. In the case of our glass fabrication unit, we were able
to pass a portion of this cost onto our customers so there was relatively no
impact. We expect the cost of glass to be flat or increase slightly in fiscal
2003. While our construction and supply contracts are at fixed prices, the
material components are usually based on firm quotes obtained from suppliers.

Labor costs, including taxes and fringe benefits, rose in fiscal 2002 and a
moderate increase also can be anticipated for fiscal 2003. While these and other
inflationary and market pressures on costs are expected in fiscal 2003, we
anticipate that ongoing improvements in manufacturing efficiencies and
reductions in overhead will mitigate the negative effect of inflation and
selling prices on fiscal 2003 operating income.
Market Risks
Our principal market risk is sensitivity to interest rates, which is the risk
that changes in interest rates will reduce net earnings of the Company. To
manage our direct risk from changes in market interest rates, management
actively monitors the interest sensitive components of our balance sheet,
primarily debt obligations, as well as market interest rates in order to
minimize the impact of changes in interest rates on net earnings and cash flow.

We use interest swaps to fix a portion of our variable rate borrowings from
fluctuations in interest rates. As of March 2, 2002, we had interest swaps
covering $35.0 million of variable rate debt. The net present liability
associated with these swaps is $2.5 million at the end of fiscal 2002.

The primary measure of interest rate risk is the simulation of net income under
different interest rate environments. The approach used to quantify interest
rate risk is a sensitivity analysis. This approach calculates the impact on net
earnings, relative to a base case scenario, of rates increasing or decreasing
gradually over the next 12 months by 200 basis points. This change in interest
rates affecting our financial instruments would result in approximately a $0.1
million impact to net earnings. As interest rates increase, net earnings
decrease; as interest rates decrease, net earnings increase.
We have a policy of using forward exchange contracts to hedge our net exposures,
by currency, related to the foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and
liabilities, and future firm commitments of our operations. Forward exchange
contracts are also used from time to time to manage near-term foreign currency
cash requirements. The primary objective of these hedging activities is to
maintain an approximately balanced position in foreign currencies so that
exchange gains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes, net of related
tax effects, are minimized.
As of March 2, 2002, we had $2.1 million of forward contracts outstanding. A
10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates would result in exchange losses
from these contracts that would, in all material respects, be fully offset by
exchange gains on the underlying net monetary exposures for which the contracts
are designated as hedges.

Forward Looking Statements

This discussion contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect the
Company's current views with respect to future events and financial performance.
The words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "forecast,"
"project," "should" and similar expressions are intended to identify "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. All forecasts and projections in this document are
"forward-looking statements," and are based on management's current expectations
or beliefs of the Company's near-term results, based on current information
available pertaining to the Company, including the risk factors noted below.
The Company wishes to caution investors that any forward-looking statements made
by or on behalf of the Company are subject to uncertainties and other factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements.
These uncertainties and other risk factors include, but are not limited to,
those noted below. There can be no assurances given that Harmon AutoGlass will
effectively leverage its operational improvements to recapture market share and
increase sales.
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There can be no assurances that PPG Auto Glass, Apogee's automotive
replacement glass distribution joint venture with PPG Industries, will
achieve favorable long-term operating results. In addition, there can be no
assurances that Apogee's Architectural segment, which serves high-end
markets with value-added products, will not be further impacted by the
slowing economy. There also can be no assurances that there will not be
additional erosion in the LSO segment revenues due to the severe downturn
in the PC industry and a slowdown in retail markets.

A number of other factors should be considered in conjunction with this
report's forward-looking statements, any discussion of operations or
results by the Company or its representatives and any forward-looking
discussion, as well as comments contained in press releases, presentations
to securities analysts or investors, or other communications by the
Company. These other factors are set forth in the cautionary statement
filed as Exhibit 99 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, and
include, without limitation, cautionary statements regarding changes in
economic and market conditions, factors related to competitive pricing,
quality, facility utilization, new product introductions, seasonal and
cyclical conditions and customer dependency. Also included are other risks
related to financial risk, self-insurance, environmental risk and
discontinued operations. New factors emerge from time to time and it is not
possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can it assess the
impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any
factor, or a combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.

ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
----------------------------------------------------------

The information required by this Item is contained in a separate section of
this report. See "Market Risks" included in Item 7 immediately above.
ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
-------------------------------------------

The information required by this Item is contained in a separate section of
this report. See "Index of Financial Statements and Schedules."

ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
----------------------------------------------------------AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
------------------------

On April 11, 2002, the Company determined not to re-engage its independent
auditors, Arthur Andersen LLP ("Arthur Andersen") and appointed Deloitte &
Touche LLP (D&T) as its new independent auditors, effective upon completion
of the audit for the fiscal year-ended March 2, 2002. This determination
followed the Company's decision to seek proposals from independent
accounting firms with respect to the engagement of independent accountants
to audit the Company's financial statements for the fiscal year ending
March 1, 2003. The decision not to re-engage Arthur Andersen and to retain
D&T was approved by the Company's Board of Directors on April 11, 2002 upon
the recommendation of its Audit Committee.

The reports of Arthur Andersen on the financial statements of the Company
for the past two fiscal years ended March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001 did not
contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified
or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During
the Company's two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim
period through April 11, 2002, (i) there were no disagreements between the
Company and Arthur Andersen on any matter of accounting principles or
practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure
which, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Arthur Andersen, would have
caused Arthur Andersen to make reference thereto in their report on the
financial statements for such years. In addition, the Company believes that
during the two most recent fiscal years and through April 11, 2002, there

have been no reportable events. (As defined in Item 304 (a) (1) (v) of
Regulations S-K of the Securities and Exchange Commission.)
The Company did not, during the Company's two most recent fiscal years
prior to the auditor change and the subsequent interim period through April
11, 2002, consult with D&T regarding (i) the application of accounting
principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, or the
type of audit opinion that might be rendered on the Company's financial
statements, and either a written report was provided to the Company or oral
advice was provided that D&T concluded was an important factor considered
by the Company in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or
financial reporting issue, or (ii) any matter that was either the subject
of a Disagreement with Arthur Andersen or a Reportable Event.
The Company reported the change in accountants on Form 8-K on April 18,
2002. The Form 8-K contained a letter from Arthur Andersen, addressed to
the Securities and Exchange Commission stating that it agreed with the
comments in clause (i) of the second paragraph of the above statements, and
was not in a position to agree or disagree with the comments in the
remainder of the above statements.
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PART III
--------

ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
--------------------------------------------------

The information required by this item, other than the information set forth
in Part I above under the heading "Executive Officers of the Registrant",
is set forth under the headings "Item 1: Election of Directors" and
"Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance" in the Proxy
Statement for the Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
June 18, 2002, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Regulation A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
This information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
----------------------

The information required by this item is set forth under the headings
"Executive Compensation" and "Item 1: Election of Directors - Compensation
of Directors" in the Proxy Statement for the Company's Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 18, 2002, which will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation A of the
Securities Act of 1934. This information is incorporated herein by
reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
--------------------------------------------------------------

The information required by this item is set forth under the headings
"Security Ownership of Principal Shareholders" and "Security Ownership of
Directors and Executive Officers" in the Proxy Statement for the Company's
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 18, 2002, which will be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation A
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. This information is incorporated
herein by reference.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
----------------------------------------------

The information required by this item is set forth under the heading "Item
1: Election of Directors - Compensation of Directors" in the Proxy
Statement for the Company's Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
June 18, 2002, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission pursuant to Regulation A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
This information is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
-------

ITEM 14.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
----------------------------------------------------------------

(a) and (d) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules The consolidated financial statements and schedules of the Registrant
listed in the accompanying "Index of Financial Statements and
Schedules" together with the reports of Arthur Andersen LLP,
independent auditors, are filed as part of this report.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K
During the quarter ended March 2, 2002, the Company did not file any
reports on Form 8-K.
(c) Exhibits The information called for by this Item is contained in a separate
section of this report. See "Exhibit Index."
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Report of Independent Public Accountants
To Apogee Enterprises, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Apogee
Enterprises, Inc. (a Minnesota corporation) and subsidiaries as of March 2,
2002 and March 3, 2001, and the related consolidated results of operations,
statements of shareholders' equity and cash flows for the three years ended
March 2, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the three years ended March 2, 2002, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial
statements taken as a whole. The schedule listed in the index of financial
statements is presented for purposes of complying with the Securities and
Exchange Commission's rules and is not part of the basic financial statements.
This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly states in all
material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.
Arthur Andersen LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
April 2, 2002
F-2

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 2,
March 3,
(In thousands, except per share data)
2002
2001
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
$ 15,361
$ 4,689
Receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
115,159
121,461
Inventories
36,022
40,434
Deferred tax assets
4,875
4,854
Other current assets
3,667
3,753
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total current assets
175,084
175,191
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Property, plant and equipment, net
128,515
147,593
Marketable securities available for sale
22,825
24,451
Investments in affiliated companies
29,361
32,530
Intangible assets, at cost less accumulated
amortization of $13,940 and $12,520, respectively
49,387
50,145
Other assets
3,944
2,769
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total assets
$409,116
$432,679
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
$ 51,887
$ 59,537
Accrued expenses
57,766
57,571
Current liabilities of discontinued operations, net
3,740
2,578
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts
6,127
10,330
Accrued income taxes
7,079
7,093
Current installments of long-term debt
640
328
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total current liabilities
127,239
137,437
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Long-term debt, less current installments
Other long-term liabilities
Liabilities of discontinued operations, net

69,098
25,867
15,978

104,206
24,466
18,278

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 6, 13 and 17)
Shareholders' equity
Common stock of $0.33-1/3 par value; authorized 50,000,000 shares;
issued and outstanding, 28,334,000 and 27,825,000, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation

9,445
50,521
113,382
(1,547)

9,275
45,773
93,543
(757)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
(867)
458
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total shareholders' equity
170,934
148,292
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total liabilities and shareholders' equity
$409,116
$432,679
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Year-Ended
Year-Ended
Year-Ended
(In thousands, except per share data)
March 2, 2002
March 3, 2001 February 26, 2000
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net sales
$802,315
$865,200
$840,488
Cost of sales
614,587
686,203
673,253
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Gross profit
187,728
178,997
167,235
Selling, general and administrative expenses
143,601
147,103
147,817
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Operating income
44,127
31,894
19,418
Interest expense, net
5,215
11,122
10,359
Equity in (loss) income of affiliated companies
(1,026)
1,465
(2,817)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Earnings from continuing operations before
income taxes
37,886
22,237
6,242
Income taxes
11,744
8,876
3,171
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Earnings from continuing operations
26,142
13,361
3,071
Earnings from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes
--1,641
9,104
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net earnings
$ 26,142
$ 15,002
$ 12,175
==============================================================================================================
Earnings per share - basic
Continuing operations
$
0.94
$
0.48
$
0.11
Discontinued operations
--0.06
0.33
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net earnings
$
0.94
$
0.54
$
0.44
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Earnings per share - diluted
Continuing operations
$
0.91
$
0.48
$
0.11
Discontinued operations
--0.06
0.33
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net earnings
$
0.91
$
0.54
$
0.44
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Weighted average basic shares outstanding
27,910
27,675
27,603
Weighted average diluted shares outstanding
28,817
27,898
27,794
==============================================================================================================

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common
Additional
Accumulated Other
Shares
Common
Paid-In
Retained
Unearned
Comprehensive
Comprehensive
(In thousands)
Outstanding
Stock
Capital
Earnings
Compensation
(Loss) Income
Earnings
====================================================================================================================================

Balance at February 27, 1999
27,623
$9,208
$41,903
$ 80,194
$ (721)
$
80
Net earnings
------12,175
----$12,175
Unrealized loss on
marketable securities,
net of $204 tax benefit
----------(382)
(382)
Unearned compensation, net
--------(167)
--Tax benefit associated with
stock plans
----803
------Common stock issued
309
103
2,678
------Common stock
repurchased and retired
(189)
(63)
(278)
(1,928)
----Cash dividends ($0.21 per share)
------(5,833)
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance at February 26, 2000
27,743
9,248
$45,106
$ 84,608
$ (888)
$ (302)
$11,793
================
Net earnings
------15,002
----$15,002
Unrealized gain on
marketable securities,
net of $407 tax expense
----------760
760
Unearned compensation, net
--------131
--Tax benefit associated with
stock plans
----236
------Common stock issued
118
39
493
------Common stock
repurchased and retired
(36)
(12)
(62)
(233)
-----

Cash dividends ($0.21 per share)
------(5,834)
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance at March 3, 2001

27,825
$9,275
$45,773
$ 93,543
$ (757)
$
458
$15,762
================
Net earnings
------26,142
----$26,142
Unrealized gain on
marketable securities,
net of $112 tax expense
----------207
207
Initial impact of adoption of
SFAS No. 133, net of $672 tax
----------(1,109)
(1,109)
benefit
Unrealized loss on
derivatives, net of $257 tax
benefit
----------(423)
(423)
Unearned compensation, net
--------(790)
--Tax benefit associated with
stock plans
----400
------Common stock issued
542
181
4,396
------Common stock
repurchased and retired
(33)
(11)
(48)
(225)
----Cash dividends ($0.215 per share)
------(6,078)
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balance at March 2, 2002
28,334
$9,445
$50,521
$113,382
$(1,547)
$ (867)
$24,817
====================================================================================================================================

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year-Ended
Year-Ended
Year-Ended
(In thousands)
March 2, 2002
March 3, 2001
February 26, 2000
====================================================================================================================================
Operating Activities
Net earnings
$ 26,142
$ 15,002
$ 12,175
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Net earnings from discontinued operations
--(1,641)
(9,104)
Depreciation and amortization
27,034
34,229
33,019
Deferred income taxes
(515)
4,832
(3,524)
Dividends received in excess of (less than) the results
from equity investments
3,437
(4,040)
152
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
(1,935)
2,102
28
Other, net
(249)
3,201
316
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Receivables
6,302
4,292
(6,828)
Inventories
4,539
5,394
637
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
(6,613)
(856)
14,258
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts
(4,203)
503
(1,795)
Refundable and accrued income taxes
(655)
(949)
2,209
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash provided by operating activities
53,284
62,069
41,543
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Investing Activities
Capital expenditures
(10,466)
(14,823)
(44,025)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment
5,598
17,834
14,672
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired
(247)
(3,602)
(1,983)
Purchases of marketable securities
(8,438)
(7,900)
(17,469)
Sales/maturities of marketable securities
10,383
9,570
19,169
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
(3,170)
1,079
(29,636)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Financing Activities
Decrease in net borrowings under revolving credit agreement
(35,300)
(60,500)
(8,200)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
2,000
--7,650
Payments on long-term debt
(2,996)
(203)
(1,294)
Increase in deferred debt expense
(223)
(563)
(334)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
4,577
532
2,781
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
(284)
(307)
(2,269)
Dividends paid
(6,078)
(5,834)
(5,833)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net cash used in financing activities
(38,304)
(66,875)
(7,499)
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations
(1,138)
1,224
1,466
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
10,672
(2,503)
5,874
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
4,689
7,192
1,318
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
$ 15,361
$ 4,689
$ 7,192
====================================================================================================================================
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing activities:
Net assets contributed to PPG Auto Glass, LLC (see Note 5)
$
--$ 30,359
$
--Net assets acquired through assumption of debt (see Note 12)
1,500
684
--====================================================================================================================================

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Related Data

Basis of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., a Minnesota corporation, and all majorityowned subsidiaries (the Company).
The equity method is used to account for the
Company's joint ventures. Transactions between Apogee and its subsidiaries have
been eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts from prior-years' financial
statements have been reclassified to conform with this year's presentation.
Apogee's fiscal year ends on the Saturday closest to February 28. Fiscal year
2002 and 2000 each consisted of 52 weeks, while fiscal 2001 consisted of 53
weeks.
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Investments with an original maturity of three
months or less are included in cash and cash equivalents.

Inventories. Inventories, which consist primarily of purchased glass and
aluminum, are valued at the lower of cost or market. Approximately 96% of the
inventories are valued by use of the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, which
does not exceed market. If the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method had been used,
inventories would have been $3.4 million and $3.1 million higher than reported
at March 2, 2002, and March 3, 2001, respectively.
Property, Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are carried at
cost. Significant improvements and renewals are capitalized. Repairs and
maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is computed on a
straight-line basis, based on estimated useful lives of 20 to 40 years for
buildings and 2 to 15 years for equipment.
Intangible Assets and Amortization. Intangible assets consist principally of
the excess of cost over the fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill) and are
amortized on a straight-line basis, primarily over 40 years. Amortization
expense amounted to $2.3 million, $2.4 million and $2.3 million in 2002, 2001
and 2000, respectively.
Long-Lived Assets. The carrying value of long-lived assets such as property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets is reviewed when circumstances suggest
that the assets have been impaired. If this review indicates that the longlived assets will not be recoverable based on the estimated undiscounted cash
flows over the remaining amortization period, the carrying value of such assets
are reduced to estimated fair value.

Financial Instruments. Unless otherwise noted, the Company's financial
instruments approximate fair value.

Self-Insurance. The Company obtains substantial amounts of commercial insurance
for potential losses for general liability, workers' compensation, and
automobile liability risk. However, a reasonable amount of risk is retained on
a self-insured basis through a wholly owned insurance subsidiary, Prism
Assurance, Inc. (Prism). Reserve requirements are established based on
actuarial projections of ultimate losses. Losses estimated to be paid within 12
months are classified as accrued expenses, while losses expected to be payable
in later periods are included in other long-term liabilities.
Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenue from construction contracts
on a percentage-of-completion basis, measured by the percentage of costs
incurred to date to estimated total costs for each contract. Contract costs
include materials, labor and other direct costs related to contract performance.
Provisions are established for estimated losses, if any, on uncompleted
contracts in the period in which such losses are determined. Amounts
representing contract change orders, claims or other items are included in sales
only when they have been approved by customers. Revenue from the sale of
products or services provided and the related cost of sales are recorded upon
shipment or as services are rendered. In a small number of instances the
Company also recognizes revenue on a bill and hold basis, in which revenue is
recognized at the time of billing, and the product is shipped at a later date,
as agreed upon by the Company and the customer.
Income Taxes.

The Company accounts for income taxes as prescribed by Statements

of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
which requires use of the asset and liability method. This method recognizes
deferred tax assets and liabilities based upon the future tax consequences of
temporary differences between financial and tax reporting.
Foreign Currency. The financial statements of foreign operations have been
translated to U.S. dollars, using the rules of SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency
Translation. Balance sheet accounts are stated in U.S. dollars, generally at
the year-end exchange rate. Results of operations are translated at average
exchange rates for the respective period.
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The Company may periodically enter into forward currency exchange contracts to
manage specific foreign currency exposures related to foreign construction
contracts, receivables and bank borrowings denominated in foreign currencies. As
of March 2, 2002, the Company had $2.1 million in forward contracts maturing in
2003. Gains and losses on forward contracts related to receivables are
recognized currently, while gains and losses related to construction projects
are deferred and accounted for as a part of the related transaction.

Accounting Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Amounts subject to
significant estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, insurance
reserves, warranty reserves, reserves related to discontinued operations, net
sales recognition for construction contracts, and the status of outstanding
disputes and claims. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
New Accounting Standards. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued SFAS No. 133 regarding accounting for derivative instruments and hedging
activities. SFAS No. 133, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and No. 138, establishes
accounting and reporting standards requiring that derivative instruments
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be
recorded in the balance sheet either as an asset or liability measured at fair
value. SFAS No. 133 requires changes in the derivative's fair value to be
recognized in earnings or, for derivatives that hedge market risk related to
future cash flows, in accumulated other comprehensive loss/income, unless
specific hedge accounting criteria are met. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 on
March 4, 2001 and determined its derivative instruments, consisting of interest
rate swap agreements, qualify for hedge accounting treatment. The adoption
resulted in the Company recording the fair value of its interest rate swap
agreements as a liability for $1.8 million with an offsetting adjustment to
other comprehensive earnings, net of tax, of $1.1 million. The net present
liability associated with these interest rate swap agreements was $2.5 million
at March 2, 2002.
In June 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations and SFAS No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 requires business
combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. Under SFAS No. 142, amortization of goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets will cease and instead the carrying value of
these assets will be evaluated for impairment by applying a fair-value based
test on at least an annual basis. The Company must adopt SFAS No. 142 on March
3, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the effects adoption of SFAS No.
142 will have on its consolidated financial statements. Goodwill amortization
expense recorded during fiscal 2002 was $1.5 million.
In August 2001, FASB issued SFAS No.
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. This
and reporting for the impairment and
will adopt this standard on March 3,
financial statements.

144, Accounting for the Impairment or
statement addresses financial accounting
disposal of long-lived assets. The Company
2002, with no impact to its consolidated

2

Working Capital

Receivables
(In thousands)
2002
2001
=========================================================================
Trade accounts
$ 89,552
$102,171
Construction contracts
22,817
16,819
Contract retainage
6,816
6,334
Other receivables
1,838
5,079
------------------------------------------------------------------------Total receivables
121,023
130,403
Less allowance for doubtful accounts
(5,864)
(8,942)
------------------------------------------------------------------------Net receivables
$115,159
$121,461
=========================================================================
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Inventories
(In thousands)
2002
2001
=========================================================================
Raw materials
$16,235
$20,124
Work-in-process
5,807
6,259
Finished goods
9,351
12,406
Costs and earnings in excess of
billings on uncompleted contracts
4,629
1,645
------------------------------------------------------------------------Total inventories
$36,022
$40,434
=========================================================================
Accrued Expenses
(In thousands)
2002
2001
=========================================================================
Payroll and related benefits
$23,802
$24,077
Insurance
10,908
9,928
Taxes, other than income taxes
3,437
3,927
Pension
4,160
4,777
Interest
525
1,048
Other
14,934
13,814
------------------------------------------------------------------------Total accrued expenses
$57,766
$57,571
=========================================================================
3

Property, Plant and Equipment

(In thousands)
2002
2001
==============================================================================
Land
$
4,185
$
5,408
Buildings and improvements
88,506
89,787
Machinery and equipment
129,006
139,290
Office equipment and furniture
55,463
60,627
Construction-in-progress
4,818
8,656
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total property, plant and equipment
281,978
303,768
Less accumulated depreciation
(153,463)
(156,175)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Net property, plant and equipment
$ 128,515
$ 147,593
==============================================================================

Depreciation expense was $24.7 million, $31.9 million and $30.7 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

4

Marketable Securities

The Company's wholly owned insurance subsidiary, Prism, that insures a portion
of the Company's workers' compensation, general liability and automobile
liability risks uses reinsurance agreements to meet statutory requirements. The
reinsurance carrier requires Prism to maintain fixed maturity investments for
the purpose of providing collateral for Prism's obligations under the
reinsurance agreement.
Prism's fixed maturity investments are classified as
"available for sale" and are carried at market value as prescribed by SFAS No.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.
Unrealized gains and losses are reported in a separate component of
shareholders' equity, net of income taxes, until the investments are sold. The
amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and losses and estimated fair values of
investments available for sale at March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001 are as
follows:

Gross
Gross
Estimated
Amortized
Unrealized
Unrealized
Market
(in thousands)
Cost
Gains
Losses
Value
===========================================================================
March 2, 2002
Municipal bonds
$21,801
$1,028
$ (4)
$22,825
--------------------------------------------------------------------------Total investments
$21,801
$1,028
$ (4)
$22,825
--------------------------------------------------------------------------March 3, 2001
U.S. Treasury Notes
$ 3,464
$
82
$ -$ 3,546
Municipal bonds
20,282
675
(52)
20,905
--------------------------------------------------------------------------Total investments
$23,746
$ 757
$(52)
$24,451
===========================================================================
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The amortized cost and estimated fair values of investments at March 2, 2002
by contractual maturity are shown below. Expected maturities may differ from
contractual maturities as borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
Amortized
Estimated
(in thousands)
Cost
Market Value
================================================================================
Due within one year
$ 1,002
$ 1,007
Due after one year through five years
5,159
5,429
Due after five years through ten years
6,399
6,723
Due after ten years through fifteen years
4,851
5,141
Due beyond fifteen years
4,390
4,525
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$21,801
$22,825
================================================================================

Gross realized gains of $0.2 million, $0 and $0 and gross realized losses of
$0, $0.1 million and $0.5 million were recognized in fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, and are included in interest expense, net in the accompanying
Consolidated Results of Operations.
5

Investments

In July 2000, the Company and PPG Industries, Inc. (PPG) combined their U.S.
automotive replacement glass distribution businesses into a joint venture, PPG
Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the Company has a 34 percent
interest. On March 2, 2002, the Company's investment in PPG Auto Glass was
$29.0 million, of which $7.3 million represents the unamortized excess of the
cost of the investment over the value of the underlying net tangible assets when
the joint venture was formed. In connection with the formation of PPG Auto
Glass, the Company agreed to supply the joint venture, through PPG, with most of
the Company's windshield fabrication capacity on market-based terms and

conditions. In addition, the Company's automobile windshield repair and
replacement business agreed to purchase 75% of its windshield needs from PPG
Auto Glass on market-based terms and conditions. Purchases from PPG Auto Glass
were $44.8 million and $29.0 million for fiscal 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Amounts owed to PPG Auto Glass were $5.5 million and $7.3 million at the end of
fiscal 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company, PPG and PPG Auto Glass
amended the windshield supply agreements to permanently adjust pricing for the
windshields manufactured and sold to more accurately reflect market pricing. As
a result of these amendments, a portion of earnings that would have previously
been reported in equity in income from affiliated companies was reported in
operating income in the Auto Glass segment for the current year. The impact on
fiscal 2002 results was an increase to operating income of $8.4 million, with an
offset to income from affiliated companies. Additionally, $1.8 million was
recorded as a one-time net increase to operating income as a result of these
changes.

In September 2001, the Company decided to discontinue funding TerraSun, LLC,
its research and development joint venture of which the Company had a 50 percent
interest. As a result, TerraSun discontinued its operations and its tangible
assets have been sold, while retaining its intangible assets.
The Company's share of earnings for its affiliated companies is before income
taxes and includes amortization of the excess cost over the value of the
underlying net tangible assets and expenses retained by the Company.
6

Long-Term Debt

(In thousands)
2002
2001
==========================================================================
Borrowings under revolving credit
agreement, interest ranging
from 3.25% to 5.00%
$60,700
$ 96,000
Other, interest ranging from 1.49%
9,038
8,534
to 7.00%
-------------------------------------------------------------------------Total long-term debt
69,738
104,534
Less current installments
(640)
(328)
-------------------------------------------------------------------------Net long-term debt
$69,098
$104,206
==========================================================================
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Long-term debt maturities are as follows:
Fiscal Year
(In thousands)
======================================================
2003
$
640
2004
61,240
2005
308
2006
150
2007
-------------------------------------------------------Thereafter
7,400
-----------------------------------------------------Total
$69,738
======================================================

The Company maintained a committed, secured credit facility at March 2, 2002
and March 3, 2001 totaling $125.0 million and $200.0 million, respectively. The
credit facility required the Company to maintain minimum levels of net worth and
certain financial ratios. The majority of the borrowings under the credit
facility are made at a rate equal to three-month LIBOR (London Interbank Offered
Rate) plus an applicable margin. The applicable margin is calculated based upon

the Company's financial ratios. At March 3, 2002, the applicable margin was
1.5%. The Company's receivables, inventory, equipment and intangibles secure the
credit facility. Based upon the Company's satisfaction of certain financial
covenants during fiscal 2001, the Company has the right to cause this security
interest to be released upon its request. At March 2, 2002, the Company was in
compliance with all of the financial covenants of the credit facility.
Selected information related to bank borrowings is as follows:

(In thousands, except percentages)
2002
2001
============================================================================
Average daily borrowings during the year
$ 83,894
$136,284
Maximum borrowings outstanding during the year
108,800
156,800
Weighted average interest rate during the year
6.5%
8.1%
============================================================================
The Company has entered into an interest rate swap agreement that effectively
converts $10.0 million of variable rate borrowings into a fixed rate obligation.
This agreement, which was set to expire in 2003, was extended to 2004. The
Company receives payments at variable rates while making payments at a fixed
rate of 5.955%. Prior to the extension, the fixed rate was 7.21%. The Company
also has entered into an interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts
$25.0 million of variable rate borrowings into a fixed rate obligation. This
agreement, which was set to expire in 2004, was extended to 2005. The Company
receives payments at variable rates while making payments at a fixed rate of
6.665%. Prior to the extension, the fixed rate was 7.125%. The net interest
paid or received associated with these agreements is included in interest
expense. The net present liability associated with these interest rate swap
agreements was $2.5 and $1.8 million at March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001,
respectively.
7

Interest, Net

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
==============================================================================
Interest on debt
$ 6,633
$12,610
$11,939
Other interest expense
667
420
636
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total interest expense
7,300
13,030
12,575
Less interest income
(2,085)
(1,908)
(2,216)
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------Interest expense, net
$ 5,215
$11,122
$10,359
==============================================================================

Interest payments, including interest expense allocated to discontinued
operations, were $7.5 million, $12.3 million and $12.5 million in 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively.
8

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a qualified defined contribution pension plan that
covers substantially all full-time, non-union employees. Contributions to the
plan are based on a percentage of employees' base earnings. Deposits of the
pension costs with the trustee are made annually. All pension costs were fully
funded or accrued as of year-end. Contributions to the plan were $4.3 million,
$4.7 million and $4.9 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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The Company also maintains a 401(k) savings plan, which allows employees to
contribute 1% to 13% of their compensation. Apogee matches 30% of the first 6%
of the employee contributions. Contributions to the plan were $1.7 million, $2.0
million and $2.1 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
Effective January 1, 2002, the Company froze the qualified defined
contribution pension plan, and amended the 401(k) savings plan to add a
contribution that will be made by the Company annually, which is based on a

percentage of employee's base earnings. In addition, the Company raised the
maximum amount that employees are allowed to contribute to the plan from 13% to
60%, up to statutory limits. The Apogee match of 30% of the first 6% of the
employee contributions remains unchanged. On or around July 1, 2002, the assets
in the frozen qualified defined contribution pension plan are scheduled to be
merged into the 401(k) savings plan resulting in a single 401(k) retirement
savings plan.
9

Shareholders' Equity and Stock Option Plans

A class of 200,000 shares of junior preferred stock with a par value of
$1.00 is authorized, but unissued.

The Company has a Shareholders' Rights Plan, under which each share of
outstanding common stock has an associated preferred share purchase right. The
rights are exercisable only under certain circumstances, including the
acquisition by a person or group of 10% of the outstanding shares of the
Company's common stock. Upon exercise, the rights would allow holders of such
rights to purchase common stock of Apogee or an acquiring company at a
discounted price, which generally would be 50% of the respective stock's current
fair market value.
The 1997 Stock Option Plan and 1987 Stock Option Plan (the "Plans") each
provide for the issuance of up to 2,500,000 options to purchase Company stock.
Options awarded under these Plans, either in the form of incentive stock options
or nonstatutory options, are exercisable at an option price equal to the fair
market value at the date of award. The 1987 Plan has expired and no new grants
of stock options may be made under this Plan.

The 1987 Partnership Plan, a plan designed to increase the ownership of
Apogee stock by key employees, allows participants selected by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors to use earned incentive compensation to
purchase Apogee common stock. The purchased stock is then matched by an equal
award of restricted stock, which vests over a predetermined period. Common
shares of 3,200,000 are authorized for issuance under the Plan. As of March 2,
2002, 2,786,000 shares have been issued or committed under the Plan. The Company
expensed $2.3 million, $1.8 million and $0.8 million in conjunction with the
Partnership Plan in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
A summary of option transactions under the Plans for 2002, 2001 and 2000
follows:

Options Outstanding
-----------------------------------------------------------------Number of
Average
Option Price
Shares
Exercise Price
Range
========================================================================================================
Balances, February 27, 1999
1,581,514
$ 13.27
$ 4.48- $25.00
Options granted
453,500
11.28
6.75- 13.44
Options exercised
(136,704)
6.66
6.508.69
Options canceled
(238,875)
14.11
6.50- 16.75
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balances, February 26, 2000
1,659,435
$ 13.15
$ 4.48- $25.00
Options granted
728,100
4.80
3.755.81
Options exercised
(1,250)
4.19
4.194.19
Options canceled
(274,507)
10.28
3.97- 17.75
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balances, March 3, 2001
2,111,778
$ 10.67
$ 3.75- $25.00
Options granted
560,200
8.83
8.60- 14.40
Options exercised
(123,509)
8.15
4.19- 16.75
Options canceled
(84,090)
8.43
4.81- 16.75
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Balances, March 2, 2002
2,464,379
$ 10.45
$ 3.75- $25.00
========================================================================================================
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and
exercisable at March 2, 2002:

Options Outstanding
Options Exercisable
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Range of
Remaining
WeightedWeightedExercise
Number
Contractual
Average
Number
Average
Prices
Outstanding
Life
Exercise Price
Exercisable
Exercise Price
=========================================================================================================================
$

3.75- $ 5.00
499,957
7.9 years
$ 4.68
150,182
$ 4.49
5.01- 10.00
714,040
7.9 years
8.20
154,190
7.87
10.01- 15.00
738,632
6.3 years
12.63
560,132
12.83
15.01- 25.00
511,750
3.9 years
16.10
501,750
16.08
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------2,464,379
6.6 years
$10.45
1,366,254
$12.55
=========================================================================================================================

In accordance with the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation, no compensation cost has been recognized with
respect to the Plans. Had compensation cost for the Plans been determined based
on the fair value of the awards, the Company's net earnings (loss) and earnings
(loss) per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated
below:

(In thousands, except per share data)
2002
2001
2000
===================================================================================
As reported:
Net earnings
Continuing operations
$26,142
$13,361
$ 3,071
Discontinued operations
--1,641
9,104
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------$26,142
$15,002
$12,175
===================================================================================
Earnings per share - diluted
Continuing operations
$ 0.91
$ 0.48
$ 0.11
Discontinued operations
--0.06
0.33
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------$ 0.91
$ 0.54
$ 0.44
===================================================================================
Pro forma:
Net earnings (loss)
Continuing operations
$25,186
$10,045
$ (250)
Discontinued operations
--1,641
9,104
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------$25,186
$11,686
$ 8,854
===================================================================================
Earnings (loss) per share -diluted
Continuing operations
$ 0.87
$ 0.35
$ (0.01)
Discontinued operations
--0.06
0.32
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------$ 0.87
$ 0.41
$ 0.32
===================================================================================

The above pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on
reported net earnings (loss) for future years. The weighted average fair value
per option at the date of grant for options granted in fiscal 2002, fiscal 2001
and fiscal 2000 was $4.23, $1.86 and $4.89, respectively. The fair value of
each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for
grants in 2002, 2001 and 2000:
2002
2001
2000
================================================================================
Dividend yield
2.4%
4.4%
1.8%
Expected volatility
67.3%
60.5%
62.4%
Risk-free interest rate
4.4%
7.5%
4.8%
Expected lives
4.6 years
3.9 years
3.8 years

================================================================================
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Income Taxes

The components of income tax expense (benefit) related to continuing
operations for each of the last three fiscal years are as follows:

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
=========================================================================================
Current:
Federal
$10,752
$3,642
$ 6,229
State and local
1,507
402
466
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total current
12,259
4,044
6,695
=========================================================================================
Deferred:
Federal
(692)
4,282
(3,453)
State and local
177
550
(71)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total deferred
(515)
4,832
(3,524)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total income tax expense
$11,744
$8,876
$ 3,171
=========================================================================================

Income tax payments, net of refunds, were $13.0 million, $4.5 million and $8.5
million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The differences between statutory federal tax rates and consolidated effective
tax rates are as follows:

2002
2001
2000
=======================================================================================
Statutory federal tax rate
35.0%
35.0%
35.0%
State and local income taxes, net of
federal tax benefit
2.9
2.8
4.1
Tax credits
(1.5)
(3.3)
(2.0)
Foreign sales corporation
(0.5)
(0.8)
(7.3)
Goodwill amortization
1.2
1.8
6.4
Meals and entertainment
0.7
1.3
5.5
Tax reserves
(5.9)
4.9
14.4
Other, net
(0.9)
(1.8)
(5.3)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Consolidated effective tax rate
31.0%
39.9%
50.8%
=======================================================================================

Tax benefits for deductions associated with the 1987 Stock Option Plan and the
1987 Partnership Plan amounted to $0.4 million, $0.2 million and $0.8 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These benefits were added directly to
additional paid-in capital and were not reflected in the determination of income
tax expense.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at March 2, 2002 and March 3,
2001 are as follows:

2002
2001
----------------------------------------------------------(In thousands)
Current
Noncurrent
Current
Noncurrent
======================================================================================================================
Accounts receivable
$2,297
--$3,457
$ (183)
Accrued insurance
--$ 3,031
--3,205
Deferred compensation
37
5,747
37
6,208
Inventory
999
--559
--Depreciation
--(2,822)
--(2,816)
Employee benefit plans
(182)
--(372)
--Mark to market interest rate swaps
--929
----Other
1,724
(3,855)
1,173
(4,807)
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Deferred tax assets
$4,875
$ 3,030
$4,854
$ 1,607
======================================================================================================================
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Discontinued Operations

During fiscal 2001, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the
assets of VIS'N Service Corporation (VIS'N), a non-auto glass focused, thirdparty administered claims processor, in two separate transactions. These
transactions effectively removed the Company from the third-party administered
claims processing business. This business is presented as discontinued
operations in the consolidated financial statements and notes.
In fiscal 2000, the Company completed the sale of 100% of the stock of its
large-scale domestic curtainwall business, Harmon, Ltd. In fiscal 1999, the
Company executed the sale of its detention/security business. Combined with the
fiscal 1998 exit from international curtainwall operations, these transactions
effectively removed the Company from the large-scale construction business.
These businesses are presented as discontinued operations in the consolidated
financial statements and notes.

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
==============================================================================================
Earnings from Operations
of Discontinued Businesses
Net sales
$ -$2,750
$28,331
Earnings before income*
-2,525
9,821
Income tax expense
-884
717
Earnings from operations,
net of income taxes
$ -$1,641
$ 9,104
==============================================================================================

*Includes net interest expense allocations (based on the ratio of net operating
assets of discontinued operations to consolidated net assets) of $0, $0 and
$0.1 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
The 2000 effective income tax rate of 7.3% on discontinued operations was due
to a decrease in the valuation allowance resulting from the utilization of
certain tax assets that were previously reserved for.

(In thousands)
2002
2001
===================================================================================================
Net Liabilities of Discontinued Operations
Current assets
$
-$
629
Accrued liabilities
(19,718)
(21,485)
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net liabilities of discontinued operations
$(19,718)
$(20,856)
Less net current liabilities of discontinued operations
3,740
2,578
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Net long-term liabilities of discontinued operations
$(15,978)
$(18,278)
===================================================================================================

In fiscal 1998, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $96.1 million related
to the international curtainwall operations. The charges included an amount for
the estimated loss on disputed construction contracts in Europe, including the
accrual of certain penalty amounts, and a provision for the accrual of legal and
related costs associated with the resolution of legal proceedings related to
organizational changes in the majority-owned European curtainwall unit. The
charges also included amounts for severance and termination benefits for
employees in France, Asia and the U.S., the write-down of property and equipment
and other long-term assets to their estimated net salable value, and other items
such as lease termination costs. The charges also reflected the estimated costs
associated with exiting the European operations, including the completion of
certain remaining projects and closure of bonds. In March 1998, the five
operating companies comprising the European curtainwall operations filed for
bankruptcy or commenced liquidation, effectively relinquishing control over
those entities.
At March 2, 2002, accruals totaling $19.7 million represented the remaining
estimated future cash outflows associated with the exit from discontinued
operations. The majority of these cash expenditures are expected to be made
within the next two to three years. The primary components of the accrual relate
to the remaining exit costs from the international curtainwall operations of the
large-scale construction business. These long-term accruals include settlement
of the outstanding bonds, of which the precise degree of liability related to
these matters will not be known until they are settled within the U.K. and
French courts; and product liability issues and legal costs may be incurred, as
they relate to the Company's warranties and possible rework issues on these
international and domestic construction projects.
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Acquisitions

In fiscal 2002 and 2001, the Large-Scale Optical Technologies segment expanded
its pre-framed art business by purchasing three high-end pre-framed art
companies. The purchase price of these businesses was $6.0 million, including
the assumption of $2.2 million in debt, and resulted in recording $4.5 million
as goodwill.
In fiscal 2000, the Auto Glass segment purchased the assets of one
distribution center. The purchase price of the acquisition was $2.0 million,
including $0.6 million recorded as goodwill, with no debt assumed.
Unless noted, no liabilities were assumed in the above transactions. All of
the above transactions were accounted for by the purchase method. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements include the net assets and results of
operations from the dates of acquisition.
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Leases

As of March 2, 2002, the Company was obligated under noncancelable operating
leases for buildings and equipment. Certain leases provide for increased rentals
based upon increases in real estate taxes or operating costs. Future minimum
rental payments under noncancelable operating leases are:
Fiscal Year
(In thousands)
============================================================
2003
$15,317
2004
11,944
2005
9,649
2006
6,675
2007
5,813
Thereafter
5,667
-----------------------------------------------------------Total minimum payments
$55,065
============================================================

Total rental expense was $22.9 million, $21.8 million and $23.8 million in
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

During fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company entered into agreements for the
sale and leaseback of certain production equipment, which are significant to the
operations of the businesses. The sale price of the equipment was $2.1 million,
$16.0 million and $13.4 million, respectively. The Company has a purchase option
at projected future fair market value under the agreements. The leases are
classified as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for
Leases.
Under the aforementioned sale-leaseback transactions, a total gain of $9.7
million has been deferred and is being recognized over the terms of the leases.
The March 2, 2002 and March 3, 2001 unamortized portion of the deferred gain of
$7.5 million and $8.7 million, respectively, is included in the balance sheet
captions accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities. The average annual
lease payment over the life of these leases is $4.8 million.

F-16
14

Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

Quarter
============================================================
(In thousands, except per share data)
First
Second
Third
Fourth
====================================================================================================================
Fiscal 2002
Net sales
$203,606
$210,233
$200,293
$188,183
Gross profit
45,304
51,400
45,811
45,213
Earnings from continuing operations
5,602
10,341
5,844
4,355
Earnings from discontinued operations
--------Net earnings
5,602
10,341
5,844
4,355
Earnings per share - basic
From continuing operations
0.20
0.37
0.21
0.16
From discontinued operations
--------Net earnings
0.20
0.37
0.21
0.16
Earnings per share - diluted
From continuing operations
0.20
0.36
0.20
0.15
From discontinued operations
--------Net earnings
0.20
0.36
0.20
0.15
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Fiscal 2001
Net sales
$237,253
$236,364
$197,291
$194,292
Gross profit
47,914
47,056
41,322
42,705
Earnings from continuing operations
2,020
4,200
2,962
4,179
Earnings from discontinued operations
------1,641
Net earnings
2,020
4,200
2,962
5,820
Earnings per share - basic
From continuing operations
0.07
0.15
0.11
0.15
From discontinued operations
------0.06
Net earnings
0.07
0.15
0.11
0.21
Earnings per share - diluted
From continuing operations
0.07
0.15
0.11
0.15
From discontinued operations
------0.06
Net earnings
0.07
0.15
0.11
0.21
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Business Segments Data

The Company's segments are aligned to match the markets they serve in order
to underscore the Company's growth potential and to reflect its changing
business mix and focus. The segments are Architectural Products and Services
(Architectural), Large-Scale Optical Technologies (LSO) and Automotive
Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass). The Architectural segment designs,
engineers, fabricates, installs, services and renovates the walls of glass and
windows comprising the outside skin of commercial and institutional buildings.
The LSO segment develops and produces high technology glass that enhances the
visual performance of products for the display, imaging and picture framing
industries. The Auto Glass segment fabricates, repairs and replaces automobile
windshields and windows.

(In thousands)

2002

2001

2000

(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
=====================================================================================
Net Sales
Architectural
$479,364
$441,466
$394,104
Large-scale optical
67,829
90,768
69,934
Auto glass
255,133
333,311
377,499
Intersegment elimination
(11)
(345)
(1,049)
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$802,315
$865,200
$840,488
=====================================================================================
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Operating Income
Architectural
$ 34,396
$ 27,393
$ 20,513
Large-scale optical
(4,350)
4,571
(540)
Auto glass
16,088
1,429
184
Corporate and other
(2,007)
(1,499)
(739)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$ 44,127
$ 31,894
$ 19,418
=============================================================================
Depreciation and Amortization
Architectural
$ 16,617
$ 16,111
$ 15,693
Large-scale optical
3,292
5,916
5,354
Auto glass
6,527
11,873
10,615
Corporate and other
598
329
1,357
----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$ 27,034
$ 34,229
$ 33,019
=============================================================================
Capital Expenditures
Architectural
$ 5,078
$ 6,257
$ 23,382
Large-scale optical
2,229
2,677
17,254
Auto glass
3,101
5,922
3,918
Corporate and other
58
(33)
(529)
----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$ 10,466
$ 14,823
$ 44,025
=============================================================================
Identifiable Assets
Architectural
$225,038
$225,668
$226,929
Large-scale optical
53,781
68,489
77,538
Auto glass
84,508
96,595
123,040
Corporate and other
45,789
41,927
53,647
----------------------------------------------------------------------------Total
$409,116
$432,679
$481,154
=============================================================================
Apogee's export net sales are less than 10% of consolidated net sales.
No single customer, including government agencies, accounts for 10% or more of
consolidated net sales. Segment operating income is net sales less cost of sales
and operating expenses. Operating income does not include provision for interest
expense or income taxes. "Corporate and other" includes miscellaneous corporate
activity not allocable to business segments.
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Earnings Per Share

The following table presents a reconciliation of the share amounts used in
the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
(In thousands)
2002
2001
2000
================================================================================
Basic earnings per share Weighted common shares
outstanding
27,910
27,675
27,603

Weighted common shares assumed
upon exercise of stock options
596
63
48
Unvested shares held in trust for
Deferred compensation plans
311
160
143
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------Diluted earnings per share Weighted common shares and
Potential common shares
Outstanding
28,817
27,898
27,794
================================================================================
There were 881,000, 1,498,000 and 1,529,000 stock options excluded in
fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, from the computation of diluted
earnings per share due to their anti-dilutive effect.
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Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

At March 2, 2002, the Company had ongoing letters of credit related to its
risk management programs, construction contracts and certain industrial
development bonds. The total value of letters of credit under which the Company
is obligated as of March 2, 2002 was approximately $14.4 million.
The Company has entered into a number of noncompete agreements, associated
with acquisitions and former employees. As of March 2, 2002, future payments of
$0.6 million were committed under such agreements.
The Company has been a party to various legal proceedings incidental to its
normal operating activities. In particular, like others in the construction
industry, the Company's construction businesses are routinely involved in
various disputes and claims arising out of construction projects, sometimes
involving significant monetary damages or product replacement. Although it is
impossible to predict the outcome of such proceedings, facts currently available
indicate that no such claims will result in losses that would have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows
of the Company.
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SCHEDULE II
----------APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Valuation and Quantifying Accounts
(In thousands)

For the year ended
March 2, 2002:
Allowance for
doubtful receivables

Inventory reserves
For the year ended
March 3, 2001:
Allowance for
doubtful receivables

Inventory reserves
For the year ended
February 26, 2000:
Allowance for
doubtful receivables

Inventory reserves

Balance at
beginning of
period
------------

Charged to
costs and
expenses
------------

Deductions
from reserves
(1)
-------------

Balance at end
of
period
--------------

$ 8,942
============
$ 2,093
============

$ 871
============
$1,911
============

$3,949
=============
$2,002
=============

$ 5,864
==============
$ 2,002
==============

$10,540
============
$ 5,178
============

$1,638
============
$5,857
============

$3,236
=============
$8,942
=============

$ 8,942
==============
$ 2,093
==============

$ 7,161
============
$ 5,112
============

$7,656
============
$ 336
============

$4,277
=============
$ 270
=============

$10,540
==============
$ 5,178
==============

(1)

Net of recoveries
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Exhibit 4A

COMMON STOCK

COMMON STOCK

NUMBER

SHARES

INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF MINNESOTA
APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.

CUSIP 037598 10 9
SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
THIS CERTIFIES THAT_____________________________________________________________
is the owner of ________________________________________________________________
FULL-PAID AND NON-ASSESSABLE SHARES OF COMMON STOCK OF THE PAR VALUE OF $.33 1/3
PER SHARE OF APOGEE ENTERPRISES, INC.
Transferable on the books of the Corporation by the holder hereof in person or
by duly authorized attorney upon surrender of this certificate properly
endorsed. This certificate is not valid unless countersigned by the Transfer
Agent and Registrar.
WITNESS the facsimile seal of the Corporation and the facsimile
signatures of its duly authorized officers.
Dated:______________

Patricia A. Beithon
Secretary

Russell Huffer
Chairman

COUNTERSIGNED AND REGISTERED:
THE BANK OF NEW YORK
(NEW YORK, N.Y.) TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE
This certificate also evidences and entitles the holder hereof to certain Rights
as set forth in a Rights Agreement between Apogee Enterprises, Inc. and The Bank
of New York, dated as of October 19, 1990, as amended (the "Rights Agreement"),
the terms of which are hereby incorporated herein by reference and a copy of
which is on file at the principal executive offices of Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
Under certain circumstances, as set forth in the Rights Agreement, such Rights
will be evidenced by separate certificates and will no longer be evidenced by
this certificate. Apogee Enterprises, Inc. will mail to the holder of this
certificate a copy of the Rights Agreement without charge after receipt of a
written request therefor. Under certain circumstances, as set forth in the
Rights Agreement, Rights issued to any Person who becomes an Acquiring Person or
an Associate or Affiliate thereof (as defined in the Rights Agreement), or
certain transferees of such Person, may become null and void.

The following abbreviations, when used in the inscription on the face
of this certificate, shall be construed as though they were written out in full
according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM

-as tenants in common

UNIF GIFT MIN ACT - ___Custodian___
(Cust)
(Minor)
under Uniform Gifts to Minors

TEN ENT

-as tenants by the entireties

JT TEN

-as joint tenants with right of
survivorship and not as tenants
Act________________
in common
(State)
Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in
the above list.

For value received_____________hereby sell, assign and transfer unto
PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS OF ASSIGNEE
________________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________SHARES

of the capital stock represented by the within Certificate, and do hereby
irrevocably constitute and appoint
_____________________________________________________________________

Attorney

to transfer the said stock on the books of the within-named Corporation with
full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated

_______________________________________________________________________
Notice: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the
name as written upon the face of the certificate in every
particular without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatever.

SIGNATURE(S) GUARANTEED:________________________________________________________
THE SIGNATURE(S) SHOULD BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBLE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION
(BANKS, STOCKBROKERS, SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WITH
MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO
S.E.C. RULE 17Ad-15.

Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
-----------------------------The Company is the owner of all of the issued and outstanding stock of the
following corporations, except as noted below.

Name of Subsidiary
-----------------Apogee Enterprises International, Inc.
Prism Assurance, Ltd.
Harmon, Inc.
Harmon Contract, Inc.
Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd. (1)
Harmon Contract Asia Sdn Bhd (2)
Harmon Contract U.K., Limited (3)
Harmon Europe (4) (7)
Viracon, Inc.
Viratec Thin Films, Inc. (5)
Viracon Georgia, Inc. (5)
Viracon/Curvlite, Inc.
Tru Vue, Inc.
Harmon Glass Company
Apogee Sales Corporation (6)
Apogee Harmon, Inc. (7)
Apogee Wausau Group, Inc.
Harmon CFEM Facades (UK) Ltd. (7) (8)
Harmon/CFEM Facades S.A. (7) (9)
Harmon Facalu S.A. (7) (9)
Harmon Sitraco S.A. (7) (9)
Harmon Voisin S.A. (7) (9)
VIS'N Service Corporation (7) (10)
Balangier Designs, Inc. (11)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

State or Country of
Incorporation
-----------------Barbados
Vermont
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Malaysia
United Kingdom
France
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Minnesota
Illinois
Minnesota
South Dakota
Minnesota
Wisconsin
United Kingdom
France
France
France
France
Minnesota
New Jersey

Owned by Harmon Contract, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Contract Asia, Ltd.
99.99% owned by Harmon Contract, Inc. and .01% by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
100% owned by various Apogee entities
Owned by Viracon, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Glass Company
Inactive
99.99% owned by Harmon Europe S.A. and .01% by Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
Owned by Harmon Europe S.A.
99.6% owned by Harmon Glass Company
Owned by Tru Vue, Inc.

Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

As independent public accountants, we hereby consent to the incorporation of our
report included in this Form 10-K, into the Company's previously filed
Registration Statement File Nos. 333-43734, 33-60400, 333-20979, 333-32437, 3313302, 33-66574, 333-58181, 333-58165, 33-35944, 333-95863, and 333-95855.

Arthur Andersen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota,
April 19, 2002

Exhibit 99
LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
---------------------

The following discussion contains certain cautionary statements regarding
Apogee's business and results of operations, which should be considered by
investors and others. These statements discuss matters, which may in part be
discussed elsewhere in this Form 10-K, and which may have been discussed in
other documents prepared by the Company pursuant to federal securities laws.
This discussion is intended to take advantage of the "safe harbor" provisions of
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The following factors
should be considered in conjunction with any discussion of operations or results
by the Company or its representatives, including any "forward-looking
statements", as well as comments contained in press releases, presentations to
securities analysts or investors, or other communications by the Company.
This discussion contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect the
Company's current views with respect to future events and financial performance.
The words "believe," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "forecast,"
"project," "should" and similar expressions are intended to identify "forwardlooking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. All forecasts and projections in this document are "forwardlooking statements," and are based on management's current expectations or
beliefs of the Company's near-term results, based on current information
available pertaining to the Company, including the risk factors noted below. The
Company wishes to caution investors that any forward-looking statements made by
or on behalf of the Company are subject to uncertainties and other factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from such statements. These
uncertainties and other risk factors include, but are not limited to, those
noted below.
In making these statements, the Company is not undertaking to address or update
each factor in future filings or communications regarding the Company's business
or results, and is not undertaking to address how any of these factors may have
caused changes to discussions or information contained in previous filings or
communications. In addition, any of the matters discussed below may have
affected Apogee's past results and may affect future results, so that the
Company's actual results for fiscal 2003 and beyond may differ materially from
those expressed in prior communications. Though the Company has attempted to
list comprehensively these important cautionary factors, the Company wishes to
caution investors and others that other factors may in the future prove to be
important in affecting the Company's business or results of operations.
Operational Risks
Architectural Products and Services (Architectural)
The Architectural companies design, engineer, fabricate, install, service and
renovate the walls of glass and windows comprising the outside skin of
commercial and institutional buildings. The companies of this segment have been,
in general, profitable, with modestly growing revenues. There can be no
assurance the growth experienced by the segment will continue or that the
segment will continue to be profitable.

Competitive Factors - The markets that these businesses serve are very
competitive, price sensitive, and are impacted by changes in the commercial
construction industry as well as general, economic conditions. These businesses
compete with several large integrated glass manufacturers and numerous
specialty, architectural glass fabricators. Competitors also include major
contractors, subcontractors, and manufacturers, many of which may have greater
financial or other resources than the Company. Product capabilities, pricing,
service and product lead-times are the primary competitive factors in this
market. Changes in our competitor's products, prices, or services could
negatively impact our ability to increase revenues, maintain our margins, and

increase our market share. Additionally, economic conditions and the cyclical
nature of the commercial construction industry could have a major impact on the
amount of profitability of these businesses. Given the recent slowdown in the
economy and the fact that there is traditionally a lag as it affects the
construction industry, there is a risk that the economic conditions will
adversely impact the construction market.

Quality Factors - We manufacture or install products based on specific
requirements of each of our customers. We believe that future orders of our
products or services will depend on our ability to maintain the performance,
reliability and quality standards required by our customers. If our products or
services have performance, reliability or quality problems, we may experience
delays in the collection of accounts receivables, higher manufacturing or
installation costs, additional warranty and service expenses, and reduced,
cancelled, or discontinued orders. Additionally, performance, reliability, or
quality claims from our customers, with or without merit, could result in costly
and time-consuming litigation that could require significant time and attention
of management and involve significant monetary damages.

Facility Utilization Factors - The Architectural segment's continued near-term
growth depends, to a significant degree, on its ability to increase capacity
utilization at its production facilities. The failure to have sufficient
capacity, to fully utilize capacity when needed or to successfully integrate and
manage additional capacity in the future could adversely affect our
relationships with customers and cause customers to buy similar products from
our competitors if we are unable to meet their needs.
Large-Scale Optical Technologies (LSO)
The LSO companies develop and produce applications that enhance the visual
performance of products for display, imaging, and picture framing industries.
The revenue and profitability of the companies in this segment has been
inconsistent from year to year. There can be no assurance this revenue and
profitability pattern experienced by the segment will change in the near future.

New Product Introduction Factors - The markets for the products of this segment
are characterized by frequent refinement and enhancement, new product
introductions, short product life cycles, price sensitivity, and declining
average selling prices over product life cycles. These factors require the
Company to seek improvement and modifications in its manufacturing processes on
a continuous basis to reduce costs, as well as to innovate with respect to new
or improved products for its proprietary coatings to replace lost CRT display
revenues. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to meet such
requirements. Additionally, there can be no assurance that the introduction of
new products by third parties will not significantly change market conditions
and product requirements.
Competitive Factors - The market for each of our products is intensely
competitive and we expect competition to increase in the future. Competitors
vary in size and scope and in the breadth of the products they offer. We
compete both with companies using technology similar to ours and companies using
other technologies or developing improved or alternative technologies. Many of
our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial,
technical, and marketing resources than we have. In addition, many of our
competitors have well-established relationships with our current and expected
future customers and are capable of creating products that compete with our
products.

Cyclical Factors - Our businesses in this segment depend, in part, on sales by
manufacturers of products that include CRT displays and the retail picture
framing market. These markets are highly cyclical and have experienced periods
of oversupply resulting in reduced demand for our products. These businesses
were significantly impacted by the economic slowdown in fiscal 2002, and we do
not expect revenues from coating CRT displays to return to past levels. If
these markets do not recover from the recent economic slowdown or experience
further slowdowns in the future, it could cause revenues and operating income to
decrease further.

Customer Dependency Factors - We have a high dependency on a relatively small
number of customers for our sales. We continue to expect to derive a
significant portion of our net sales from this small number of customers.
Accordingly, a loss of a large customer could materially reduce LSO revenues and
operating results in any one year. With the closure of the San Diego facility
in the first quarter of fiscal 2002, a large portion of LSO revenue was lost in
the current year.
Facility Utilization Factors - Additionally, the LSO segment's growth is also
dependent on its ability to utilize recently expanded facilities and to execute
its recent acquisition strategy. LSO's retail picture framing unit completed
construction of a new facility in the first quarter of fiscal 2000. In fiscal
2002 and fiscal 2001, this unit also purchased three manufacturers to expand its
pre-framed art business. The segment's Viratec unit installed a new, large-scale
flat glass coating line that went on line in late fiscal 2000. The segment was
unable to fully execute on either strategy during fiscal 2002 because of marketdriven volume reductions. There are no assurances that the volume will increase
or that the Company will be successful initiating its LSO strategies.

Automotive Replacement Glass and Services (Auto Glass)
These companies fabricate, repair, and replace automobile windshields and
windows.
Changes in Market Dynamics - This market's pricing structure has changed
significantly in recent years as insurance companies seek volume pricing at
discounted rates from historical levels and attempt to enter into preferred or
exclusive provider arrangements with a limited number of providers.
Consequently, revenues have declined dramatically and margins have narrowed at
the retail, wholesale and manufacturing levels, in which the Auto Glass segment
operates. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to increase
market share, improve or maintain its margins, whether through improved pricing
conditions or cost-savings, or that it will continue to be selected by insurance
companies as a provider of replacement and repair auto glass on a regional or
national basis on acceptable terms and conditions.
Seasonality Factors - The market that these businesses serve tends to be
seasonal in nature and is influenced by a variety of factors, including weather,
new car sales, speed limits, road conditions, the economy, and average annual
number of miles driven. Our revenues from this segment are historically highest
during the first and second quarters, with first and second quarter revenues at
26% and 29% of full year revenues, respectively, followed by third and fourth
quarter revenues at 23% and 22%, respectively. We expect this seasonality in the
demand for our products to continue into the future.

Competitive Factors - The Auto Glass segment operates in an industry that is
highly competitive, fairly mature, and where the barriers to entry are not
significant. The Auto Glass segment competes with other auto glass shops, glass
distributors, car dealers, body shops and fabrication facilities on the basis of
pricing, national coverage and customer service. Its competition consists of
national and regional chains as well as significant local competition. The
introduction of imported auto glass from China has increased the competitiveness
of the market by driving pricing down further. The Auto Glass segment has
initiated several cost savings initiatives over the past three fiscal years to
lessen the impact of reduced margins on the operating results of the Company.
Due to the above items, we expect this market to remain highly competitive for
the foreseeable future and make no assurances that we will be able to grow
market share or improve profitability.

Joint Venture Factors - During fiscal 2001, the Company and PPG Industries, Inc.
(PPG) combined their U.S. automotive glass replacement distribution businesses
into a newly formed entity, PPG Auto Glass, LLC (PPG Auto Glass), of which the
Company maintains a 34% ownership interest. As a result of this transaction,
the Company's windshield manufacturing facility sells nearly all of its capacity
to PPG. Similarly, the Company's retail unit is committed to 75% of its
replacement windshields from PPG Auto Glass. The Company expects further
industry consolidation in the auto glass retail and wholesale businesses.

There is no assurance PPG Auto Glass will achieve any anticipated efficiencies
or be able to improve or maintain margins. Additionally, if the Auto Glass
segment is unable to control costs while providing required services to the
insurance market, it may not be able to remain a viable competitor in this
industry. The failure by the Auto Glass segment to timely respond to such
changes could have a material adverse effect on its, and the Company's
business, financial condition or results of operations.
Financial Risks

Our quarterly revenue and operating results are volatile and difficult to
predict. Our revenue and operating results may fall below expectations of
securities analysts or investors in future periods. Our quarterly revenue and
operating results may vary dependent on a number of factors, including, but not
limited to: fluctuating customer demand due to delay or timing of shipments,
changes in product mix, or market acceptance of new products; manufacturing or
operational difficulties that may arise due to quality control, capacity
utilization of our production equipment, or staffing requirements; competition,
including the introduction of new products by competitors, adoption of
competitive technologies by our customers, and competitive pressures on prices
of our product and services. Our failure to meet revenue and operating results
expectations would likely adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Self-Insurance Risk
We obtain substantial amounts of commercial insurance for potential losses for
general liability, workers' compensation and automobile liability risk.
However, an amount of risk is retained on a self-insured basis through a wholly
owned insurance subsidiary. Effective for fiscal 2003, we experienced a
material increase in our risk retention for our third-party product liability
and general liability coverages. A material product liability event would have
a material adverse effect on our operating results.

Environmental Regulation Risks

We use hazardous chemicals in producing products at two facilities (one in our
Architectural segment and one in our LSO segment). As a result, we are subject
to a variety of local, state, and federal governmental regulations relating to
storage, discharge, handling, emission, generation, and disposal of toxic or
other hazardous substances used to manufacture our products, compliance of which
is expensive. Our failure to comply with current or future regulations could
result in the imposition of substantial fines on us, suspension of production,
alteration of our manufacturing processes, or increased costs.
Discontinued Curtainwall Operations
During fiscal 1998, the Company made the strategic decision to close or exit its
European and Asian international curtainwall operations in order to focus more
selectively on higher-margin domestic curtainwall business. During fiscal 1999,
the
Company decided to sell its domestic curtainwall operation and focus on
manufacturing rather than large-scale installations. The Company maintains risks
associated with closing the domestic and international operations from
performance bonds it established with its customers and remaining warranty
coverages that exist on completed projects. In addition, the Company faces
related risks and uncertainties, including the inability to effectively manage
restructured business units and the inability to effectively manage costs or
difficulties related to the operation of the businesses or execution of
restructuring or exit activities. The Company also maintains foreign currency
risk, in that unknown international exposures that might become payable in
foreign currencies are not hedged. The occurrence of one or more of such events
may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or
results of operations of the Company.
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Apogee Enterprises, Inc.
7900 Xerxes Avenue South, Suite 1800
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55431
April 19, 2002

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20549

Re:

Letter to Commission Pursuant to Temporary Note 3T

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Pursuant to Temporary Note 3T to Article 3 of Regulation S-X, Arthur
Andersen LLP ("Andersen") has represented to us, by letter dated April 19, 2002,
that its audit of the financial statements of Apogee Enterprises, Inc., for the
period ended March 2, 2002, was subject to Andersen's quality control system for
the U.S. accounting and auditing practice to provide reasonable assurance that
the engagement was conducted in compliance with professional standards, that
there was appropriate continuity of Andersen personnel working on the audit and
availability of national office consultation. Availability of personnel at
foreign affiliates of Andersen is not relevant to this audit.
Very truly yours,

Apogee Enterprises, Inc.

/s/ Michael B. Clauer
Michael B. Clauer
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

